UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

Pterosaur dietary hypotheses

Bestwick, Jordan; Unwin, David M.; Butler, Richard J.; Henderson, Donald M.; Purnell, Mark A.

DOI: 10.1111/brv.12431 10.1111/brv.12431

License: Creative Commons: Attribution (CC BY)

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Citation for published version (Harvard): Bestwick, J, Unwin, DM, Butler, RJ, Henderson, DM & Purnell, MA 2018, 'Pterosaur dietary hypotheses: a review of ideas and approaches', *Biological Reviews*, vol. 93, no. 4, pp. 2021-2048. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12431, https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12431

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

Publisher Rights Statement: Checked for eligibility: 15/06/2018

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

•Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.

•Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.

•User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?) •Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

Pterosaur dietary hypotheses: a review of ideas and approaches

Jordan Bestwick^{1*}, David M. Unwin², Richard J. Butler³, Donald M. Henderson⁴ and Mark A. Purnell¹

¹School of Geography, Geology and the Environment, University of Leicester, Leicester, LE1 7RH, U.K.

²School of Museum Studies, University of Leicester, Leicester, LE1 7RF, U.K.

³School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, U.K.

⁴Royal Tyrrell Museum of Palaeontology, P.O. Box 7500, Drumheller, Alberta, T07 0Y0, Canada

ABSTRACT

Pterosaurs are an extinct group of Mesozoic flying reptiles, whose fossil record extends from approximately 210 to 66 million years ago. They were integral components of continental and marginal marine ecosystems, yet their diets remain poorly constrained. Numerous dietary hypotheses have been proposed for different pterosaur groups, including insectivory, piscivory, carnivory, durophagy, herbivory/frugivory, filter-feeding and generalism. These hypotheses, and subsequent interpretations of pterosaur diet, are supported by qualitative (content fossils, associations, ichnology, comparative anatomy) and/or quantitative (functional morphology, stable isotope analysis) evidence. Pterosaur dietary interpretations are scattered throughout the literature with little attention paid to the supporting evidence. Reaching a robustly supported consensus on pterosaur diets is important for understanding their dietary evolution, and their roles in Mesozoic ecosystems. A comprehensive examination of the pterosaur literature identified 314 dietary interpretations (dietary statement plus supporting evidence) from 126 published studies. Multiple alternative diets have been hypothesised for most principal taxonomic pterosaur groups. Some groups exhibit a high degree of consensus, supported by multiple lines of evidence, while others exhibit less consensus. Qualitative evidence supports 87.3% of dietary interpretations, with comparative anatomy most common (62.1% of total). More speciose groups of pterosaur tend to have a greater range of hypothesised diets. Consideration of dietary interpretations within alternative phylogenetic contexts reveals high levels of consensus between equivalent monofenestratan groups, and lower levels of consensus between equivalent non-monofenestratan groups. Evaluating the possible non-biological controls on apparent patterns of dietary diversity reveals that numbers of dietary interpretations through time exhibit no correlation with patterns of publication (number of peer-reviewed publications through time). 73.8% of dietary interpretations were published in the 21st century. Overall, consensus interpretations of pterosaur diets are better accounted for by non-biological signals, such as the impact of the respective quality of the fossil record of different pterosaur groups on research levels. That many interpretations are based on qualitative, often untestable lines of evidence adds significant noise to the data. More experiment-led pterosaur dietary research, with greater consideration of pterosaurs as organisms with independent evolutionary histories, will lead to more robust conclusions drawn from repeatable results. This will allow greater understanding of pterosaur dietary diversity, disparity and evolution and facilitate reconstructions of Mesozoic ecosystems.

Key words: pterosaur, ecosystem, diet, interpretations, qualitative, quantitative, evidence, consensus, comparative anatomy.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Methods	4
	(1) Phylogenetic frameworks	4
	(2) Dietary and evidential categories	4
	(3) Data sets	5

* Address for correspondence: (Tel.: +44(0)7947226318; E-mail: jb656@leicester.ac.uk).

1

Biological Reviews (2018) 000-000 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

(a) Pterosaur diets	5
(b) Species listing	6
(c) Pterosaur publications from 1784 to 2017	6
(4) Analyses	6
III. Results	6
(1) Analysis of pterosaur dietary interpretations	6
(2) Analysis of categories of evidence	6
(3) Species <i>versus</i> dietary categories	6
(4) Dietary consensus and phylogenies	6
(5) Historical analyses	7
(6) Historical patterns in dietary interpretations	8
IV. Pterosaur diets	10
(1) Non-pterosaur pterosauromorphs	10
(2) Basal-most pterosaurs	10
(3) Anurognathidae	12
(4) Campylognathoididae	12
(5) Rhamphorhynchidae	12
(a) Rhamphorhynchinae	12
(b) Scaphognathinae	13
(6) Basal monofenestratans	13
(7) Istiodactylidae	13
(8) Ornithocheiridae	14
(9) Pteranodontoidea	14
(a) Pteranodontidae	14
(b) Nyctosauridae	14
(10) Ctenochasmatoidea	15
(a) Basal ctenochasmatoids	15
(b) Ctenochasmatidae	15
(11) Lonchodectidae	15
(12) Dsungaripteroidea	16
(a) Basal dsungaripteroids	16
(b) Dsungaripteridae	16
(13) Tapejaridae	16
(14) Chaoyangopteridae	16
(15) Thalassodromidae	17
(16) Azhdarchidae	17
V. Discussion	17
(1) Why is there a lack of consensus in pterosaur diet research?	17
(2) How appropriate are current methods for forming dietary hypotheses?	20
(a) Comparative anatomy	20
(b) Associations	20
(c) Functional morphology	21
(d) Content fossils	21
(e) Ichnofossils	21
(f) Stable isotope analysis	22
(g) Quantitative 3D microtextural analysis of tooth microwear	22
VI. Conclusions	23
VII. Acknowledgements	24
VIII. References	24
IX. Supporting Information	28

I. INTRODUCTION

Pterosaurs are an extinct clade of flying Mesozoic reptiles, with a 150-million-year fossil record from the Late Triassic to the latest Cretaceous (Wellnhofer, 1991; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004; Unwin, 2006; Butler, Benson & Barrett, 2013). The current number of described pterosaur species is around 190, and the clade exhibits wide morphological disparity (Fig. 1) (Prentice, Ruta & Benton, 2011; Butler *et al.*, 2012; Foth, Brusatte & Butler, 2012; Hyder, Witton & Martill, 2014), with wingspans ranging from 40 cm to 10 m (Hone & Benton, 2008; Benson *et al.*, 2014). Pterosaur

Pterosaur dietary hypotheses



Fig. 1. Examples of pterosaur skull and dental diversity from each principal group in this study. Skulls traced or redrawn from Unwin (2006) and references therein, unless otherwise stated. (A) The basal-most pterosaur *Dimorphodon macronyx*; (B) the anurognathid *Anurognathus ammoni*; (C) the campylognathoidid *Eudimorphodon ranzü*; (D) the rhamphorhynchine *Rhamphorhynchus muensteri*; (E) the scaphognathinine *Scaphognathus crassirostris*; (F) the basal monofenestratan *Darwinopterus modularis*, traced from Lü *et al.* (2010); (G) the istiodactylid *Istiodactylus latidens*; (H) the ornithocheirid *Ornithocheirus mesembrinus*; (I) the pteranodontid *Pterodactylus antiquus*; (L) the ctenochasmatid *Gnathosaurus gracilis*, redrawn from Bennett (2003*a*); (K) the basal ctenochasmatoid *Pterodactylus antiquus*; (L) the ctenochasmatid *Gnathosaurus subulatus*; (M) the lonchodectid *Feilongus* sp., redrawn from Wang *et al.* (2005); (N) the basal dsungaripteroid *Germanodactylus cristatus*; (O) the dsungaripterid *Dsungaripterus weii*; (P) the tapejarid *Tapejara wellnhoferi*; (Q) the chaoyangopterid *Shenzhoupterus chaoyangensis*, traced from Lü *et al.* (2008*a*); (R) the thalassodromid *Tupuxuara leonardii*; (S) the azhdarchid *Zhejiangopterus linhaiensis*. Skulls not drawn to scale.

research has advanced rapidly during the last three decades (Barrett et al., 2008; Hone, 2012; Witton, 2013), with new finds of fossil Lagerstätten in Brazil and China yielding numerous well-preserved pterosaur specimens. These have formed the basis of large numbers of new taxa and greatly increased understanding of pterosaur evolution (Barrett et al., 2008; Lü & Bo, 2011; Hone, 2012; Dean, Mannion & Butler, 2016). Aerodynamic models of bone strength analyses and wing-loading forces have revealed that pterosaurs potentially flew with high manoeuvrability (Palmer, 2011; Habib & Hall, 2012; Habib & Witton, 2013), and likely utilised energy-efficient quadrupedal take-offs (Habib, 2008). Pterosaur phylogeny (Kellner, 2003; Unwin, 2003; Lü et al., 2010; Andres, Clark & Xu 2014), ground-based behaviours elucidated from trace fossils (ichnofossils) (Hwang et al., 2002; Xing et al., 2012; Fiorillo et al., 2015) and reproductive biology (Chiappe et al., 2004; Grellet-Tinner et al., 2007; Lü et al., 2011a; Wang et al., 2015, 2017) have also seen major advances.

One area of pterosaur research lagging behind, however, is understanding of their dietary ecology (Unwin & Henderson, 2002; Hone, 2012; Hone *et al.*, 2015*a*). Diet, as used here, refers to the food items typically consumed by a species. A range of pterosaur diets have been proposed, including carnivory, piscivory, insectivory, durophagy and filter-feeding (Seeley, 1901; Wellnhofer, 1991; Unwin, 2006; Veldmeijer, Witton & Nieuwland, 2012; Witton, 2013). Pterosaurs were significant components of many Mesozoic ecosystems, and helped shape the evolution of Mesozoic food webs. Reaching a consensus on diets for major pterosaur groups is therefore essential for understanding pterosaur dietary evolution and for reconstructing Mesozoic ecosystems (Unwin & Henderson, 2002). Pterosaur dietary hypotheses and interpretations are scattered across the literature, and whilst popular texts have summarised interpretations (Wellnhofer, 1991; Unwin, 2006; Veldmeijer et al., 2012; Witton, 2013, 2018), there is no single synthesis of the evidence supporting these interpretations.

The evidence underpinning dietary interpretations can be broadly categorised as qualitative or quantitative, although categories are not always mutually exclusive. Qualitative lines of evidence often rely solely on inferences drawn from direct or indirect morphological comparisons with modern organisms (Unwin & Henderson, 2002; Veldmeijer, Signore & Bucci, 2007), supported by an assumption that morphologically similar structures indicate some level of functional convergence (Witton & Naish, 2008). Dentitions and skull morphologies are most commonly compared with extant analogues, because these are the parts of the body most directly involved in feeding (Fastnacht, 2005; Ősi, 2011).

Qualitative evidence also includes associations of potential food items with pterosaur fossils. Of these, specimens with remains of other organism(s) in their gut and throat (content fossils) are interpreted as direct evidence of diet (Wild, 1984; Hone *et al.*, 2015*a*; Witton, 2018). Evidence from coprolites (fossilised faeces) falls into a similar category, but determining producers of coprolites can be challenging. Other studies infer diet from general associations with taxa from the same stratigraphic interval and/or depositional environments as the preserved pterosaur specimens (Kellner, 2003; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004; Tütken & Hone, 2010). Finally, ichnofossils are used to infer foraging behaviours and habitat preferences, leading to dietary interpretations (Lockley & Wright, 2003; Mazin *et al.*, 2003; Fiorillo *et al.*, 2015).

During the last 30 years, dietary analysis of extinct animals has become increasingly quantitative, allowing explicit hypothesis testing and robust, repeatable conclusions (Lauder, 1995; Ferry-Graham, Bolnick & Wainwright, 2002; Veldmeijer et al., 2007; Anderson et al., 2011). Quantitative functional morphology methods do not provide direct evidence of actual food items, but of feeding and/or foraging behaviours that can be used to infer more or less plausible dietary hypotheses (Amiot et al., 2010; Bright, 2014). Finite element analysis (FEA) applies external forces to digital anatomical reconstructions and calculates resultant stress and strain distributions (Rayfield et al., 2001; Fastnacht, 2005; Anderson et al., 2011). Skull reconstructions of the pterosaur Pteranodon, for example, show that it experienced relatively low stresses and strains during jaw closure, indicating that it could effectively seize prey by rapid jaw closure (Fastnacht, 2005).

Stable isotope analyses of carbon $({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)$ and oxygen $({}^{18}O/{}^{16}O)$ ratios from bone apatite and tooth enamel can reveal whether animals inhabited terrestrial or marine environments, allowing some limited dietary inferences to be drawn (Tütken & Hone, 2010).

We present the first comprehensive synthesis of pterosaur dietary interpretations. For each interpretation, we identify dietary statements and underpinning evidence categories and evaluate how robustly supported different dietary interpretations are within, and between, key pterosaur groups. This provides the basis for a discussion of biological and nonbiological influences on apparent pterosaur dietary diversity.

II. METHODS

(1) Phylogenetic frameworks

Pterosauria is defined as the most recent common ancestor of *Preondactylus buffarinii* and *Quetzalcoatlus northropi* and all its descendants (Fig. 2) (Kellner, 2003; Unwin, 2003). Pterosauromorpha comprises Pterosauria and ornithodiran archosaurs which share more recent common ancestors with Pterosauria than with its sister group, Dinosauromorpha (Nesbitt, 2011). *Scleromochlus taylori* from the early Late Triassic (around 230 Ma) of Scotland has been considered as a basal pterosauromorph (Padian, 1984), but the position of *Scleromochlus* within Ornithodira is unclear (Benton, 1999; Nesbitt, 2011).

Phylogenetic analyses of Pterosauria (Kellner, 2003; Unwin, 2003; Lü *et al.*, 2010; Andres *et al.*, 2014), show agreement in identifying approximately 20 principal groups, each sharing consistent features of the jaws, dentition (where present), and cranial and postcranial anatomy (Figs 1 and 2). Some of these groups are clades, whilst others are grades of morphologically similar taxa. These groups form the taxonomic units used herein.

The taxonomic contents of these groups exhibit similarities between published phylogenies, but they are not universally agreed upon. Three distinct phylogenies are therefore used to examine the impact of phylogenetic uncertainty when considering dietary hypotheses. These phylogenies are referred to as 'Unwin', 'Kellner' and 'Andres' after the authors of the initial iterations of these data sets. Herein, the Unwin phylogeny represents a composite tree of Unwin (2003) and Lü et al. (2010) (Fig. 2). The Kellner phylogeny is a composite tree of Kellner (2003), Wang et al. (2009), Wang et al. (2012) and Rodrigues et al. (2015) (see online Appendix S1, Fig. S1). The Andres phylogeny is from Andres et al. (2014; see online Fig. S2). Where sets of phylogenies used to construct a tree conflict, relevant taxa are collapsed into a polytomy. Whilst the preferential selection of any one of these phylogenies is to some extent arbitrary, the Unwin phylogeny is primarily used herein because it exhibits the highest stratigraphic congruence (Andres, 2015). Labelled principal groups in the Unwin phylogeny (Fig. 2) thus denote the order of Section IV. Further information on phylogenies is included as online Supporting Information (see online Appendix S1).

(2) Dietary and evidential categories

We used seven principal dietary categories: (*i*) insectivory: insects and unarmoured terrestrial invertebrates; (*ii*) piscivory: fish and other nektonic organisms such as cephalopods (Hone *et al.*, 2015*a*); (*iii*) carnivory: terrestrial vertebrates (predation and/or scavenging); (*iv*) durophagy: consumption of organisms with hard shells or armour (Crofts & Summers, 2014), including seeds and non-planktonic aquatic crustaceans and molluscs; (*v*) herbivory/frugivory: fruits and plant matter; (*vi*) filter-feeding on planktonic crustacean, mollusc and/or fish larvae; (*vii*) generalists: where authors explicitly mention this dietary category.

We assign the evidence used to support dietary interpretations to six categories: (*i*) content fossils, including coprolites; (*ii*) spatiotemporal associations with taxa and/or depositional environments; (*iii*) ichnofossils; (*iv*) comparative anatomy; (*v*) functional morphology; (*vi*) stable isotope analysis.



Fig. 2. Pterosaur phylogeny used as a framework for this study, based on Unwin (2003) and Lü *et al.* (2010). Principal groups denote the order of discussion in Section IV from the base of the Pterosauria. Taxa within the phylogeny are explicitly mentioned herein and do not necessarily denote all members of respective groups. Branch lengths do not infer phylogenetic distances. Polytomies are given for unknown phylogenetic relationships. The avemetatarsalian *Scleromochlus taylori* is included as an outgroup. Nodes: 1, Pterosauria; 2, Rhamphorhynchidae; 3, Monofenestrata; 4, Pterodactyloidea; 5, Ornithocheiroidea; 6, Pteranodontoidea; 7, Lophocratia; 8, Ctenochasmatoidea; 9, Dsungariptoidea; 10, Azhdarchoidea; 11, Neoazhdarchia.

(3) Data sets

(a) Pterosaur diets

The primary data set for this study is a compilation of interpretations, each comprising a statement regarding the diet of a taxon that either is one of the recognised principal taxonomic groups, or falls within one of those groups. Each interpretation was unambiguously assigned to one dietary category and to one evidence category. Dietary statements without supporting evidence were excluded.

Dietary interpretations were compiled from the literature. Publications citing previous interpretations but lacking novel data or reasoning were excluded. One hundred and twenty six publications contained at least one novel dietary interpretation. When a publication identified the same dietary and evidence categories for multiple taxa within the same principal group, this was treated as a single novel interpretation. When a publication provided a single dietary statement for a single group but supported it with more than one evidential category, this was tabulated under each evidence category.

Differences in the taxonomic content of principal groups between the phylogenies led to differences in the numbers of identified interpretations. For example, a publication assessing diet for two species from the same principal group in one phylogeny was treated as one interpretation. If these two species then fell within different groups in a different phylogeny, this interpretation was counted twice, once for each group. As a result, 314 interpretations were identified for the Unwin phylogeny, 311 for the Kellner phylogeny and 301 for the Andres phylogeny.

Details of interpretations for each phylogeny are included as online Supporting Information (see online Appendix S1).

(b) Species listing

Valid pterosaur species were derived from Dean *et al.* (2016) and a literature review, ending in February 2017. Eight species could not be referred to any of the principal groups and were thus excluded (see online Appendix S1). The final data set comprises 180 species (see online Appendix S1).

(c) Pterosaur publications from 1784 to 2017

A data set of all pterosaur-focused publications was compiled to estimate research effort through time, from 1784 to February 2017. The sum of all publications (1828) is likely a slight underestimate.

(4) Analyses

Numbers of interpretations for each dietary and evidence category were summed for each principal group. Total percentages of each evidence category were calculated. To investigate possible biological and non-biological drivers of the diversity of dietary interpretations, numbers of species from each principal group were compared to numbers of assigned dietary categories. More speciose groups are hypothesised to have greater dietary diversity because they exhibit more morphological variation (Zhou et al., 2017). Ornithocheiridae was by far the most speciose group with 36 species and was removed as an outlier (the second was Ctenochasmatidae with 18 species). The number of dietary groups was non-normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk, P < 0.05), and therefore a Spearman's rank correlation was used when comparing dietary groups and species counts.

Pterosaur publications were sorted into decadal bins from 1780–1789 to 2010–2017 and compared with dietary interpretations, sorted into the same time-bins. Publications and dietary interpretations were transformed using generalised differencing to reduce the likelihood of type I errors when performing correlations on time-series data. Correlations were then tested using Spearman's rank tests. Cumulative data on publications and dietary interpretations were plotted over the same timespan.

To assess changes in dietary consensus through time, dietary interpretations for each principal group were assigned to one of four different stages of pterosaur research history (Witton, 2013): (*i*) late 18th and 19th centuries ($\mathcal{N} = 3$ from two publications); (*ii*) 1900–1969 ($\mathcal{N} = 17$ from eight publications); (*iii*) 1970–1999 ($\mathcal{N} = 61$ from 22 publications); (*iv*) 2000–present ($\mathcal{N} = 233$ from 94 publications).

III. RESULTS

(1) Analysis of pterosaur dietary interpretations

Total numbers of dietary interpretations for each principal group (Fig. 3) show large differences, from 39 in Azhdarchidae to just two in basal dsungaripteroids (although the latter comprises just one genus). Marked disparity also occurs in numbers of hypothesised diets. For Nyctosauridae and basal dsungaripteroids, for example, only a single diet has been proposed, whereas for Campylognathoididae, basal ctenochasmatoids and Azhdarchidae there are six different diets (Fig. 3). For most groups, a single diet is supported by multiple evidential categories, with one or more other diets suggested by one or a few interpretations. For some groups, different diets are hypothesised for the same taxa within these groups, and in others different diets are associated with particular taxa (see online Appendix S1). Some groups, such as Istiodactylidae and Azhdarchidae, exhibit roughly even splits between the two most common diets, while others, such as basal ctenochasmatoids, exhibit small disparities between most-supported and lesser-supported diets (Fig. 3).

(2) Analysis of categories of evidence

There is a large disparity in the numbers of interpretations supported by qualitative (content fossils, associations, ichnofossils and comparative anatomy) and quantitative (functional morphology and isotope analyses) approaches, with the former supporting 87.3% of all interpretations (Fig. 4). Comparative anatomy is the most common evidence category (62.1% of total), with general associations second (15%) (Fig. 4). Interpretations based on analysis of functional morphology make up 12.1% of interpretations; content fossils and ichnofossils each make up 5.1%; stable isotope analyses make up 0.6% (Fig. 4).

(3) Species versus dietary categories

There is a moderate positive correlation between pterosaur species per principal group and dietary categories for respective principal groups when Ornithocheiridae is excluded as an outlier ($\rho = 0.509$, $\mathcal{N} = 16$, P = 0.031) (Fig. 5). When Ornithocheiridae is included, there is no significant correlation ($\rho = 0.389$, $\mathcal{N} = 17$, P = 0.1).

(4) Dietary consensus and phylogenies

The phylogenetic distributions of dietary interpretations for particular groups are broadly consistent among the three phylogenies (Fig. 3, see online Figs S3 and S4). For several groups one dietary interpretation is strongly supported (e.g. Anurognathidae, Pteranodontidae), with little support for others. Several groups exhibit some dietary disparity, although one interpretation remains dominant (e.g. Dsungaripteridae, Lonchodectidae). A few groups exhibit numerous interpretations, all of which receive some support (e.g. Azhdarchidae).



Fig. 3. Number of pterosaur dietary interpretations for each pterosaur principal group in the Unwin phylogeny. Entries include respective dietary statements (denoted by colour) and evidential category (denoted by symbol). Each symbol with underlying colour denotes one interpretation (N = 314 from 126 studies). See Section II.2 for dietary and evidential category definitions. Full breakdowns of interpretations are included as online Supporting Information (see online Appendix S1).

High congruence in terms of group definitions and content between the Unwin and Kellner trees result in similar distributions of dietary interpretations, especially for monofenestratans (Fig. 3, see online Fig. S3). There is also high congruence for Anurognathidae and Campylognathoididae, but lower congruence for 'basal-most pterosaurs' (=Group A in the Kellner phylogeny) and Rhamphorhynchinae (=Rhamphorhynchidae in the Kellner phylogeny).

The distribution of interpretations for monofenestratan groups in the Andres phylogeny show high congruence with the Unwin and Kellner phylogenies (see online Fig. S4). However, 'basal-most pterosaurs' and Rhamphorhynchidae in the Andres phylogeny contain substantially more interpretations than their equivalents in the other phylogenies.

(5) Historical analyses

There is no correlation between numbers of pterosaur publications and dietary interpretations through time ($\rho = 0.224$, d.f. = 22, P = 0.302) (Fig. 6A). The number of publications on pterosaurs was relatively low and stable from 1830–1839 to 1920–1929 and then decreased and remained low until 1960–1969 (Fig. 6A). There was then a large increase in publications from 1970–1979 onwards (Fig. 6A). Published dietary interpretations were relatively uncommon for much of pterosaur research history, until a dramatic increase in interest from 1990–1999 onwards (Fig. 6A). This decade (2010–2017) has seen a decrease in pterosaur publications, although this may be an artefact as the decade is not yet over, and only a slight increase in dietary interpretations (Fig. 6A). The numbers of new pterosaur publications each year always



Fig. 4. Percentage of qualitative (dark grey; content fossils, spatiotemporal associations, ichnofossils and comparative anatomy) and quantitative (light grey; functional morphology and isotope analysis) evidential categories underpinning pterosaur dietary interpretations in the Unwin phylogeny. (N = 314 from 126 studies).



Fig. 5. Numbers of hypothesised dietary groups per pterosaur principal group in the Unwin phylogeny is correlated with numbers of identified species per group [$\rho = 0.509$, N = 16, P = 0.031; Ornithocheiridae (black filled triangle) was excluded from analysis as an outlier]. Least-squares regression (not plotted) indicates that a linear model provides a poor fit to the data ($r^2 = 0.19$, excluding Ornithocheiridae). Overall, more dietary hypotheses have been proposed for more speciose groups. Species assortments are included as online Supporting Information (see online Appendix S1).

exceed new numbers of dietary interpretations, except in 1991 (Fig. 6B). The earliest identified reports of hypothesised diets and evidential categories are listed in Table 1.

(6) Historical patterns in dietary interpretations

During the 19th century, 0.97% of dietary interpretations were proposed, 5.5% were proposed between 1900 and

1969, 19.7% between 1970 and 1999, and 73.8% since 2000 (Fig. 7A–D). One or two diets were initially hypothesised for most pterosaur groups, with subsequent interpretations largely following those initial interpretations. Rhamphorhychinae and Ctenochasmatidae for example were originally hypothesised as piscivores (Fig. 7B) and filter-feeders (Fig. 7C), respectively, which remain their most common interpreted diets to the present day (Fig. 7D).



Fig. 6. (A) Numbers of identified pterosaur publications ($\mathcal{N} = 1828$; solid black line), and pterosaur dietary interpretations ($\mathcal{N} = 314$; dashed black line) assorted into decadal time-bins from 1780–1789 to the present decade, 2010–2017, ending in February 2017. (B) Cumulative pterosaur publications (left *y*-axis, solid line) and cumulative dietary interpretations (right *y*-axis, dashed line) each year from 1784 to 2017.

Category	Year	Taxon	Reference
Dietary category			
Insectivory	1829	Dimorphodon macronyx	Buckland (1829)
Piscivory	1876	Pteranodon	Marsh (1876)
Carnivory	1913	Istiodactylus latidens	Hooley (1913)
Durophagy	1943	Pteranodon	Brown (1943)
Herbivory/frugivory	1991	Tapejara wellnhoferi	Wellnhofer & Kellner (1991)
Filter-feeding	1986	Pterodaustro	Bakker (1986)
Generalist	2001	Lonchodectes	Unwin (2001)
Evidential category			· · · · ·
Content fossils	1943	Pteranodon	Brown (1943)
Associations	1829	Dimorphodon macronyx	Buckland (1829)
Ichnofossils	2002	Haenamichnus unhangriensis ^a	Hwang et al. (2002)
Comparative anatomy	1829	Dimorphodon macronyx	Buckland (1829)
Functional morphology	1974	Pteranodon	Bramwell & Whitfield (1974)
Stable isotope analysis	2010	<i>Dsungaripterus, Pteranodon</i> , Ornithocheiridae indet. Tapejaridae indet.	Tütken & Hone (2010)

Table 1. Earliest identified reports of hypothesised pterosaur diets and evidential categories with the respective taxon/taxa.

^aHaenamichnus unhangriensis is a pterosaur ichnospecies thought to have been generated by an azhdarchid.

Istiodactylidae and Azhdarchidae by contrast are evenly affiliated with piscivory and carnivory through time (Fig. 7B–D).

IV. PTEROSAUR DIETS

(1) Non-pterosaur pterosauromorphs

Determining the plesiomorphic dietary condition for pterosaurs is problematic, because different phylogenies recover different pterosaurs at the base of Pterosauria. Lü et al. (2010) for example, considers Preondactylus buffarinii the basal-most pterosaur, while Kellner (2003) and Bennett (2007) consider Anurognathidae the basal group. This makes it difficult to infer which pterosaurs exhibit the plesiomorphic dietary condition. Understanding the diets of non-pterosaur pterosauromorphs may provide a solution. At present, Scleromochlus, which pre-dates the earliest known pterosaurs by around 15-20 million years (Dalla Vecchia, 2003; Nesbitt, 2011), is the only putative non-pterosaur pterosauromorph, but its phylogenetic position is controversial. Euparkeria capensis, from the early Middle Triassic of South Africa, represents a close outgroup of archosaurs and may approach the plesiomorphic archosaur body plan (Senter, 2003; Nesbitt, 2011; Sookias & Butler, 2013; Sookias, 2016), and has been used as an outgroup in several phylogenetic analyses of pterosaurs (Bennett, 1996; Andres et al., 2014). It could be argued that understanding diets of non-archosaur archosauriforms such as Euparkeria may help elucidate ancestral pterosaur diets (Sookias, 2016). However, Scleromochlus and Euparkeria are anatomically different in many respects from pterosaurs (Nesbitt, 2011), thus limiting their utility in inferring the plesiomorphic Pterosauromorpha and Pterosauria dietary conditions.

Scleromochlus has been interpreted as an agile insectivore based on its elongate hind limbs (Benton, 1999). This is consistent with a hypothesis of insectivory as the ancestral pterosaur diet (Padian, 1980), although this was an extrapolation from the observation that insectivory is the most common diet in modern bats.

Euparkeria possess large orbits and serrated, laterally flattened teeth which have been interpreted as indicative of carnivory (Ewer, 1965; Senter, 2003). *Euparkeria* has been suggested as insectivorous during its early life-cycle stages before becoming carnivorous as an adult (Senter, 2003). Sookias & Butler (2013), however, argued that *Euparkeria* fed on small insects and/or small tetrapods due to a lack of well-developed jaw musculature for orally processing food items.

(2) Basal-most pterosaurs

A grade of early-branching pterosaurs, referred to here as 'basal-most pterosaurs', are found from the Upper Triassic to Lower Jurassic (c. 215–190 Ma) of the UK and Italy (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 0.6–1.5 m wingspans, disproportionately large heads and heterodont, monocuspid dentitions (Fig. 1A) (Wild, 1984; Wellnhofer, 1991; Dalla Vecchia, 2003, 2013). They are largely interpreted as insectivorous and less frequently as piscivorous and carnivorous (Fig. 3).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology and associations (Fig. 3). The fang-like, widely spaced dentitions of basal-most pterosaurs have been suggested as suitable for catching insects. Buckland (1829) even speculated that the forelimbs of *Dimorphodon macronyx* resembled those of modern insectivorous bats. Numerous insect-like fragments are known from the same deposits as *Dimorphodon* in the Blue Lias Formation, UK (Buckland, 1829). Functional morphological analyses include adductor muscle reconstructions of



Fig. 7. Historical precedence of pterosaur dietary interpretations with dietary statements (denoted by colour) and underpinning evidence (denoted by symbol) assorted into discrete time-bins. (A) 19th century (N = 3 from two studies), (B) 1900–1969 (N = 17 from eight studies), (C) 1970–1999 (N = 61 from 22 studies), (D) 2000–present (February 2017; N = 233 from 94 studies). A full breakdown of these interpretations is included as online Supporting Information (see online Appendix S1).

Dimorphodon and *Preondactylus buffarinii*, based on their quadrate–articular jaw joints. Relatively small areas for muscle attachments are consistent with low bite forces and rapid jaw closure for catching insects (Ősi, 2009, 2011).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and an absence of ichnology (Fig. 3). The absence of identifiable ichnofossils has been used to suggest that these pterosaurs fished over water (Unwin, 2007). The deep, rounded snout of *Dimorphodon* has been compared with the rostrum of the piscivorous Atlantic puffin (*Fratercula arctica*) (Bakker, 1986). However, optimal *Dimorphodon* floating positions investigated using three-dimensional (3D) digital reconstructions from 'mathematical slices' of specimen illustrations do not support this hypothesis (Henderson, 2010; Hone & Henderson, 2014). This analysis suggests that *Dimorphodon* would have had most of its body submerged and therefore did not spend much time foraging in water (Hone & Henderson, 2014).

Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Rapid jaw closure, suggested by adductor muscle reconstructions, may have helped in the capture of small vertebrates (Ősi, 2011; Dalla Vecchia, 2013). Morphological reassessments of *Dimorphodon* forelimbs and pectoral girdle suggest an erect posture which would have facilitated terrestrial foraging for small vertebrates (Witton, 2015*b*).

(3) Anurognathidae

Anurognathids are known from the Middle–Upper Jurassic (161-145 Ma) of Germany, Central Asia and China (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 0.4-0.9 m wingspans (although most specimens appear to be juveniles), short box-like skulls and large orbits (Fig. 1B) (Bakhurina & Unwin, 1995; Bennett, 2003*b*, 2007). Anurognathids are largely interpreted as insectivorous and less frequently as piscivorous (Fig. 3).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology, associations and (an absence of) ichnofossils (Fig. 3). Anurognathus ammoni possess short, pointed teeth, argued to be suitable for catching insects, and are from deposits with numerous insect fossils (Bennett, 2003b, 2007). Several anurognathids possess bristle-like pycnofibres protruding from near their jawlines, superficially similar to bristle-like structures seen in modern nightjars (Caprimulgidae) (Bakhurina & Unwin, 1995; Bennett, 2007). Anurognathids have thus been hypothesised as 'aerial hawkers'; catching insects on the wing with their mouths open (Wellnhofer, 1991; Bakhurina & Unwin, 1995; Unwin, Lü & Bakhurina, 2000; Bennett, 2003b, 2007). Analyses of functional morphology include examinations of their posteriorly positioned quadrate-articular joints, indicating gape angles similar to nightjars (Bennett, 2007; Ősi, 2011; Habib & Witton, 2013). High structural strengths and bending resistances in Anurognathus humeri and femora signify sharp turning abilities in flight, consistent with hawking behaviour (Habib & Hall, 2012; Habib & Witton, 2013).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). *Batrachognathus volans* and *Jeholopterus ningchengensis* are known from lacustrine deposits and exhibit slightly recurved teeth (Rjabinin, 1948; Bakhurina & Unwin, 1995; Wang *et al.*, 2002), consistent with consumption of small fish and insects.

(4) Campylognathoididae

Campylognathoidids are from Upper Triassic–Lower Jurassic (c. 215–176 Ma) of Central Europe and Greenland (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 0.7–1.8 m wingspans and some form of heterodont and/or multi-cusped dentition (Fig. 1C) (Wild, 1978; Padian, 2008*a*; Ősi, 2011; Dalla Vecchia, 2013). Campylognathoidids are most commonly interpreted as pisciviorous, with insectivory, carnivory, durophagy, herbivory/frugivory and generalism also suggested (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology, content fossils and an absence of terrestrial ichnofossils (Fig. 3). The content fossil consists of a *Eudimorphodon ranzü* with scales in its stomach from pholidophorid fish (Wild, 1978; Dalla Vecchia, 2003). *Eudimorphodon* exhibits serrated, monocuspid, tricuspid and pentacuspid teeth (Wild, 1978; Stecher, 2008), which could have assisted in cutting through fish scales (Ősi, 2011). Reconstructions of *Eudimorphodon* adductor muscles suggest high quadrate mobility and rapid jaw closure when fishing (Ősi, 2011; Dalla Vecchia, 2013).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). *Carniadactylus rosenfeldi* exhibits few wear facets on its teeth which suggests a preference for soft invertebrates (Ősi, 2011).

Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Eudimorphodon* and *Austriadactylus cristatus* dentitions have been interpreted as suitable for predating small vertebrates (Dalla Vecchia, 2013).

Durophagy interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Enamel spalling on *Caviramus filsurensis* teeth has been used to suggest a preference for hard crustaceans (Stecher, 2008; Dalla Vecchia, 2013).

Herbivory/frugivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Carniadactylus* dentitions have also been inferred to have allowed exploitation of plant material (Ősi, 2011).

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). The diversity of campylognathoidid dentitions are argued to have allowed exploitation of numerous dietary items (Padian, 2008*a*; Witton, 2013). Functional morphological analysis subjecting 3D reconstructions (see Section IV.2) of the *Eudimorphodon* skull and dentition to dorso-ventrally directed forces reveal high bite forces for its skull length (Henderson, 2018). This is consistent with processing diverse food items (Henderson, 2018).

(5) Rhamphorhynchidae

(a) Rhamphorhynchinae

Rhamphorhynchines are from the Middle–Upper Jurassic of Europe and China (Unwin, 1996; Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit wingspans up to 2 m, elongate snouts (Fig. 1D) and gracile hindlimbs (Padian, 2008*b*). Rhamphorhynchines are mostly interpreted as piscivorous with a few suggestions of insectivory, carnivory and durophagy (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on content fossils, comparative anatomy functional morphology, associations and an absence of terrestrial ichnofossils (Fig. 3). Several *Rhamphorhynchus muensteri* contain fish and nektonic invertebrate remains (Wellnhofer, 1975; Frey & Tischlinger, 2012; Hone, Habib & Lamanna, 2013; Hone *et al.*, 2015*a*). Comparative anatomical evidence includes similarities between the conical, anteriorly pointed teeth of *Rhamphorhynchus* and those of modern gharials (*Gavialis gangeticus*), and a rhamphotheca at the anterior end of the jaw, possibly for skim-feeding on fish (Bakker, 1986; Wellnhofer, 1991; Padian, 2008*b*). Prolonged skimming, however, is unlikely as flume tank experiments with *Rhamphorhynchus* jaw replicas show skimming to be energetically expensive (Humphries *et al.*, 2007).

Durophagy interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Some *Dorygnathus* cf. *bathensis* teeth exhibit enamel spalling, supposedly representing damage from the consumption of hard items (Ősi, 2011).

Insectivory and carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Histological thin sections of *Rhamphorhynchus* bones from different-sized individuals reveal that *Rhamphorhynchus* hatchlings had slow growth rates and were potentially unable to fly (Prondvai *et al.*, 2012). Young *Rhamphorhynchus* were suggested to have fed on insects and small vertebrates before learning to fly, although the possibility of post-hatching feeding by parents cannot be ruled out (Prondvai *et al.*, 2012).

(b) Scaphognathinae

Scaphognathines are from the Middle–Upper Jurassic of Europe, Asia and Cuba (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 0.7–2.5 m wingspans and stout skulls (Fig. 1E) (Witton, 2013). Piscivory is the most common interpreted diet, with insectivory, carnivory and generalism also suggested (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on content fossils, comparative anatomy, functional morphology and an absence of terrestrial ichnofossils (Fig. 3). A *Scaphognathus crassirostris* specimen was described with fish remains in its throat and mouth, corroborating earlier morphological comparisons likening *Scaphogathus* teeth to gharials (Seeley, 1901; Stieler, 1922; Bennett, 2014). Functional morphological evidence comes from flight models suggesting that *Scaphognathus* exhibited similar soaring profiles to modern gulls (Laridae) and albatrosses (Diomedeidae) (Rayner, 1989; Witton, 2008).

Insectivory interpretations are based on associations and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Lü & Bo (2011) hypothesised *Jianchangopterus zhaoianus* from the Tiaojishan Formation, China, as an obligate insectivore as a result of strict niche partitioning with unrelated, potentially piscivorous, pterosaurs.

Carnivory interpretations are based on association (Fig. 3). *Scaphognathus* has been depicted predating *Anurognathus* (Bakker, 1986).

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Witton (2013) reasoned their relatively robust snouts and claws enabled terrestrial foraging.

(6) Basal monofenestratans

Basal monofenestratans are from the Middle–Upper Jurassic (165–151 Ma) of China (Lü *et al.*, 2010) and the UK (Martill & Etches, 2013; Witton, O'Sullivan & Martill, 2015). These pterosaurs exhibit 0.8–1.2 m wingspans with elongated heads and necks like pterodactyloids (Fig. 1F), and short bodies and extended tails like non-pterodactyloids (Lü *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2010*a*; Witton *et al.*, 2015). Basal monofenestratans are interpreted as insectivorous, piscivorous and carnivorous (Fig. 3).

Insectivory interpretations are based on associations and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Chinese basal monofenestratans are from terrestrial deposits of the Tiaojishan Formation and Daohugou Bed, which contain numerous insects (Lü *et al.*, 2010, 2011*b*). Different dentitions among basal monofenestratans have been interpreted as indicative of strict niche partitioning (Lü *et al.*, 2010, 2011*b*). *Darwinopterus robustadens* for example exhibits relatively stout teeth, perhaps for consuming insects with thicker exoskeletons (Lü *et al.*, 2010, 2011*b*).

Piscivory interpretations are based on associations and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). The Tiaojishan Formation and Daohugou Bed also contain numerous fish fossils, thus Chinese basal monofenestratans have been associated with facultative piscivory (Wang *et al.*, 2010*b*). European species such as *Cuspicephalus scarfi* from coastal deposits possess high tooth counts (Martill & Etches, 2013), potentially for grabbing fish (Witton *et al.*, 2015).

Carnivory interpretations are based on associations and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Initial descriptions of *Darwinopterus modularis* noted spike-like teeth for gripping vertebrate prey, such as gliding mammals and other pterosaurs, which are known from Tiaojishan (Lü *et al.*, 2010).

(7) Istiodactylidae

Istiodactylids are from the Lower Cretaceous (130-112 Ma) of the UK and China (Barrett *et al.*, 2008) with 2.5–4.5 m wingspans, rounded anterior rostra and labiolingually flattened, interlocking teeth in the anterior halves of their jaws (Fig. 1G) (Witton, 2013). Istiodactylids are interpreted as piscivorous and carnivorous, with a few suggestions of insectivory (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). Associations include numerous fish fossils from the Jiufotang Formation, where istiodactylids including *Liaoxipterus brachyognathus* and *Nurhachius ignaciobrioti* are also known (Wang & Lü, 2001; Wang & Zhou, 2006). Original reconstructions of the *Istiodactylus latidens* skull suggested that this pterosaur caught fish with its interlocking teeth (Hooley, 1913). Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and ichnology (Fig. 3). Ichnological evidence is from pterosaur track-ways, used to infer ground-based scavenging (Unwin, 2007). Howse, Milner & Martill (2001) argued that the razor-edged teeth of *Istiodactylus* were suited for pulling and twisting off pieces of flesh. Re-examinations of *Istiodactylus* found features indicating both mechanical strength and weakness, typical of obligate scavengers (Witton, 2012, 2013; Martill, 2014).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy of a *Liaoxipterus* specimen with an elongated hyoid apparatus (collection of small bones which attach to the posterior of the tongue). The proportional lengths of these bones are reportedly similar to modern chameleons (Chameleonidae), and *Liaoxipterus* was thus reasoned to have caught insects with the aid of a projectile tongue (Lü, Xu & Ji, 2008*b*; Lü, 2015).

(8) Ornithocheiridae

Ornithocheirids are from Lower–Upper Cretaceous (140–95 Ma) deposits on all continents except Antarctica (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs had 4–8 m wingspans and elongated jaws with large teeth at the anterior end and smaller teeth towards the posterior end (Fig. 1H) (Ősi, 2011; Witton, 2013; Elgin, 2014). Ornithocheirids are mostly interpreted as piscivorous, with a few suggestions of filter-feeding (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on content fossils, associations, ichnology, isotope analyses, comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Most ornithocheirids are known from lagoonal, coastal and marine deposits (Frey, Martill & Buchy, 2003; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004; Unwin, 2006; Molnar & Thulborn, 2007; Unwin & Martill, 2007; Kear, Deacon & Siverson, 2010; Veldmeijer et al., 2012; Wretman & Kear, 2013). A coprolite interpreted to be from Guidraco venator contains fish bones (Wang et al., 2012). Carbon isotope ratios of ornithocheirid teeth indicate consumption of freshwater and shallow marine fish (Amiot et al., 2010). These teeth however contained high proportions of dentine which can easily be altered through diagenesis (Amiot et al., 2010). Analysis of teeth with distinctive enamel alternatively found carbon ratios similar to those typical of marine environments (Tütken & Hone, 2010). Most ornithocheirids such as Ornithocheirus mesembrinus possess long conical teeth, supposedly for grasping fish (Wellnhofer, 1991; Dalla Vecchia, 1993; Fletcher & Salisbury, 2010; Ősi, 2011; Veldmeijer et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014a). Functional modelling of energy costs using body mass estimates indicate that catching fish whilst on the wing and from water surfaces incurred low energetic costs and would have been energy efficient for Anhanguera piscator (Habib, 2015).

Filter-feeding interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Boreopterus cuiae* and *Zhenyuangopterus longirostris* possess slender, elongated teeth, interpreted to have trapped small aquatic organisms before straining and swallowing (Wang & Zhou, 2006; Witton, 2013; Teng *et al.*, 2014).

(9) Pteranodontoidea

(a) Pteranodontidae

Pteranodontids are from the Lower–Upper Cretaceous (100–80 Ma) of North America and Europe (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs had wingspans up to 6.5 m, narrow edentulous jaws (Fig. 1I) and exhibit sexual dimorphism, with larger head crests in supposed males (Bennett, 2001). Pteranodontids are commonly interpreted as piscivorous, with a few suggestions of durophagy (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on content fossils, associations, comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Content fossils include fish remains within several Pteranodon stomachs (Brown, 1943; Hargrave, 2007). Pteranodontids are exclusively known from marine deposits and have thus been suggested as albatross analogues (Marsh. 1876; Eaton, 1910; Wellnhofer, 1991; Bennett, 1993, 1994; Unwin, 2006; Witton, 2013). Comparative anatomical analvses agree on piscivory (Fig. 3). Skim-feeding was initially proposed as Pteranodon and modern avian skimmers (Rynchops spp.) possess similarly narrow jaws (Marsh, 1876; Eaton, 1910; Zusi, 1962). Spiral-shaped joints between the quadrate and articular in the lower jaw were interpreted as attachment points for throat sacs for scooping up fish (Eaton, 1910; Hankin, 1912). However, cervical vertebrae of Pteranodon were later judged too small for scooping and skimming for fish (Witton, 2013). Functional morphological analyses have tested the feasibility of feeding behaviours. Bramwell & Whitfield (1974) placed scaled replicas of the Pteranodon skeleton in wind-tunnels and inferred slow flight and gliding speeds to help catch fish whilst on the wing. By contrast, other early flight models found Pteranodon flight profiles were more suited for skim-feeding, although their body masses were extrapolated from modern seabirds (Hazlehurst & Rayner, 1992). Later energy expenditure modelling found that capturing aquatic organisms on the wing or whilst resting on water surfaces were energetically feasible behaviours (Habib, 2015).

Durophagy interpretations are based on content fossils (Fig. 3); a few (disputed) crustacean remains have been found within *Pteranodon* throats (Brown, 1943; Bennett, 2001).

(b) Nyctosauridae

Nyctosaurids are known from the Upper Cretaceous (89–66 Ma) of Mid-West USA, Mexico and Brazil (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 2–3 m wingspans and gracile morphologies, with *Nyctosaurus gracilis* exhibiting an 'antler-like' head crest (Fig. 1J) (Bennett, 2003*a*). Nyctosaurids are exclusively interpreted as piscivorous (Fig. 3), based on associations, comparative anatomy, functional morphology and ichnology (Fig. 3). All nyctosaurids are known from shallow marine deposits (Marsh, 1876; Bennett, 2003*a*; Frey *et al.*, 2006) with an absence of ichnofossils suggesting foraging over water (Unwin, 2007). Comparative anatomy and functional morphology of mineralised wing tendons in *Muzquizopteryx coahuilensis* allowed theoretical wing muscle reconstructions

indicating restricted wing movements and foraging in shallow marine environments (Frey et al., 2006).

(10) Ctenochasmatoidea

(a) Basal ctenochasmatoids

Basal ctenochasmatoids are from the Upper Jurassic (157–145 Ma) of Germany (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). Basal ctenochasmatoids have different morphologies; *Pterodactylus* species exhibit straight, thin jaws with around 50–70 small, conical teeth (Fig. 1K) (Arthaber, 1921; Bennett, 2012); *Cycnorhamphus suevicus*, by contrast, exhibits a bizarre arrangement where the anterior portions of the upper and lower jaws curve downward and upward, respectively, with rounded teeth (Witton, 2013). Basal ctenochasmatoids are commonly interpreted as insectivorous and piscivorous with single suggestions of carnivory, durophagy, filter-feeding and generalism (Fig. 3).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and ichnology (Fig. 3). Contemporaneous ichnofossils suggest that basal ctenochasmatoids foraged for insects on the ground (Unwin, 2007). *Pterodactylus* was originally suggested to have caught flying insects because their jaws superficially resemble the beaks of modern bee-eaters (Meropidae) (Arthaber, 1921; Bennett, 2012).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). *Pterodactylus* dentitions have alternatively been suggested to be adapted for snatching small fishes from water surfaces (Rayner, 1989; Bennett, 2012).

Carnivory interpretations are based on ichnology (Fig. 3). Contemporaneous ichnofossils suggest that basal ctenochasmatoids hunted and/or scavenged for vertebrates on the ground (Unwin, 2007).

Durophagy interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). The *Cycnorhamphus* jaw and dentition has been interpreted as an adaptation for crushing crustacean exoskeletons (Witton, 2013).

Filter-feeding interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). The unspecialised teeth of basal ctenochasmatoids have been suggested to have facilitated basic filter-feeding in shallow water bodies (Unwin, 2006).

Generalism interpretations are based on functional morphology (Fig. 3). A 3D model of the skull subjected to dorso-anteriorly directed forces found that *Pterodactylus* had intermediate bite forces and thus perhaps consumed diverse food items (Henderson, 2018).

(b) Ctenochasmatidae

Ctenochasmatids are from the Lower–Upper Cretaceous (152–100 Ma) of Argentina, Central and Western Europe, Morocco, and East Asia (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 1–2.5 m wingspans and elongated rostrums with densely spaced slender teeth of assorted sizes (Fig. 1L). Ctenochasmatids are mostly interpreted as filter-feeders with few cases of piscivory and durophagy (Fig. 3).

Filter-feeding interpretations are based on comparative anatomy, content fossils, ichnofossils and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Content fossils include Pterodaustro guinazui specimens from the Largarcitio Formation, Argentina with gravel-sized gastroliths in their stomachs, potentially for crushing planktonic-sized organisms (Codorniú, Chiappe & Cid, 2013). Contemporaneous ichnofossils suggest that ctenochasmatids foraged in shallow water bodies (Unwin, 2007). Comparative anatomical interpretations are based on their highly derived jaws and dentitions (Chiappe & Chinsamy, 1996; Chiappe et al., 1998; Naish & Martill, 2003; Chinsamy-Turan, Codorniú & Chiappe, 2008). Ctenochasma gracile, for example, possesses straight jaws with around 260 teeth, and Gnathosaurus subulatus possesses around 130 teeth in jaws that end in a disc-like structure similar to modern spoonbills (Plataleinae) (Fig. 1L) (Howse & Milner, 1995). Functional morphological analysis of 3D models of Ctenochasma, Gnathosaurus and Pterodaustro skulls subjected to dorso-anteriorly directed forces found that ctenochasmatids had exceptionally weak bites and could thus only feed on planktonic-sized food items (Henderson, 2018).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Sharp, slender teeth are inferred to have aided in catching fish (Lü, Kundrat & Shen, 2016*a*).

Durophagy interpretations are based on content fossils and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Pterodaustro* exhibit short, rounded teeth in their upper jaws, perhaps for crushing hard-shelled crustaceans (Chinsamy, Codorniú & Chiappe, 2009; Codorniú *et al.*, 2013).

(11) Lonchodectidae

Lonchodectids are poorly known pterosaurs known from the Lower–Upper Cretaceous (140–90 Ma) of China, the UK and Brazil (Unwin, 1996, 2006; Unwin, Wang & Meng, 2008). These pterosaurs possess elongated jaws with either slightly dorso-ventrally flattened tooth crowns, or slender recurved teeth (Fig. 1M). Lonchodectids are mostly interpreted as generalists, along with piscivory and carnivory (Fig. 3).

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). *Lonchodectes* is known from the shallow marine Cambridge Greensand Formation of the UK, which is suggested to have contained numerous aquatic organisms which could have supported generalist diets (Unwin, 1996, 2006). The dorso-ventrally flattened teeth of *Lonchodectes* were reasoned to have facilitated the handling and consumption of varied food items (Unwin, 1996, 2006).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and an absence of terrestrial ichnofossils (Fig. 3). Slender, recurved teeth in the anterior halves of their jaws (Fig. 1M) have been argued to be suitable for catching fish (Wang & Zhou, 2006; Lü *et al.*, 2016*b*).

Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Feilongus* dentitions have been interpreted as suitable for predatory lifestyles (Wang *et al.*, 2014*b*).

(12) Dsungaripteroidea

(a) Basal dsungaripteroids

Basal dsungaripteroids are known from the Upper Jurassic (157–145 Ma) of Central and Western Europe, USA and Tanzania (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs exhibit 1 m wingspans and small, dorsally positioned sagittal crests on their skulls (Fig. 1N) (Wellnhofer, 1991; Witton, 2013). Basal dsungaripteroids are exclusively interpreted as durophagous, based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Germanodactylus* for example, exhibits edentulous jaw tips and low-crowned teeth, supposedly for selecting and crushing bivalve and crustacean shells (Bennett, 2006; Unwin, 2006).

(b) Dsungaripteridae

Dsungaripterids are from the Lower Cretaceous (145–100 Ma) of China, Mongolia and South America (Barrett *et al.*, 2008; Dececchi *et al.*, 2014). These pterosaurs exhibit 2–5 m wingspans, relatively robust skeletons and laterally flattened, edentulous jaw anteriors (Fig. 1O) (Young, 1964; Lü *et al.*, 2009; Hone *et al.*, 2015*b*). Dsungaripterids are commonly interpreted as durophagous with some suggestions of piscivory (Fig. 3).

Durophagy interpretations are based on comparative anatomy, ichnofossils, associations and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Contemporaneous ichnofossils suggest that dsungaripterids foraged for hard-shelled organisms in shallow water bodies (Unwin, 2007). Associations indicate that dsungaripterids are mostly found in inland fluviolacustrine deposits (Matsukawa et al., 2006). Comparative anatomical evidence derives from jaws and teeth. Dsungaripterus weii, for example, exhibits upturned jaw tips with low-crowned, anvil-shaped teeth in the posterior half of its jaws (Young, 1964; Wellnhofer, 1991), suggesting Dsungaripterus might have picked out bivalves, gastropods and crabs with its jaw tips before cracking open their shells or exoskeletons with its teeth (Young, 1964; Wellnhofer, 1991; Lü et al., 2009). Functional morphology of 3D models of Dsungaripterus reveals awkward floating positions (see Section IV.2), indicative of a pterosaur better adapted for foraging in shallow waters (Hone & Henderson, 2014).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). The straight jaw tips and relatively slender, conical teeth of *Noripterus complicidens* and *'Phobetor' parvus* were interpreted as suitable for catching fish (Wellnhofer, 1991; Lü *et al.*, 2009; Veldmeijer *et al.*, 2012).

(13) Tapejaridae

Tapejarids are from the Lower–Upper Cretaceous (130–93 Ma) of Brazil, Spain and China (Barrett *et al.*, 2008; Vullo *et al.*, 2012). These pterosaurs had 1.5–3 m wingspans, relatively elongated hindlimbs and sail-like cranial crests (Fig. 1P) (Wang & Zhou, 2006; Witton, 2013). Many different diets are interpreted for tapejarids, including herbivory/frugivory, durophagy, carnivory, piscivory and insectivory (Fig. 3).

Herbivory/frugivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy, functional morphology and associations (Fig. 3). Tapejara wellnhoferi possess edentulous, anteroventrally curved jaws (Fig. 1P) which were likened to modern frugivorous parrots (Psittaciformes) (Wellnhofer & Kellner, 1991: Unwin, 2006). Other anatomical features supporting frugivory include large head crests for moving vegetation and robust phalanges and claws for moving along tree branches (Wellnhofer & Kellner, 1991; Veldmeijer et al., 2012). Associations are based on tapejarid occurrences correlating spatially and temporally with the emergence and spread of fruiting angiosperms (Unwin, 2006; Meijer et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008; Vullo et al., 2012). Functional morphological analyses include Tapejara bite force estimations from the relative positions of their jugal and quadrate bones, suggesting tapejarids could readily pick up and flatten fruits with their jaws (Meijer et al., 2007).

Durophagy interpretations are based on associations, comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). The fossil records of tapejarids, seeds and gymnosperm cones in the Lower Cretaceous partially correlate (Pinheiro, Liparini & Schultz, 2014). *Tapejara* adductor muscle reconstructions show well-developed systems for potentially consuming harder items (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2014). This is corroborated by 3D constructs of the *Tapejara* skull which exhibited high bite forces for potentially cracking open seeds (Henderson, 2018).

Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and content fossils (Fig. 3). A fossilised regurgitate pellet, tentatively identified as tapejarid in origin, contains small bird remains (Veldmeijer *et al.*, 2012). Comparative anatomy includes a partial dentary from the La Huerguina Formation, Spain, which may have had a 'cutting-edge' rhamphotheca for catching small vertebrates (Vullo *et al.*, 2012).

Piscivory interpretations are based on associations (Fig. 3). Brazilian tapejarids are known from lagoonal and marine deposits and are reasoned to have fed on contemporaneous fish (Unwin & Martill, 2007).

Insectivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). *Nemicolopterus crypicus,* from the Jiufotang Formation, China was suggested to have pursued insects along tree branches aided by curved phalanges (Wang *et al.*, 2008).

(14) Chaoyangopteridae

Chaoyangopterids are from the Lower Cretaceous (130–112 Ma) of China and Brazil, and had 1–4 m wingspans and 'scissor-like' edentulous jaws (Fig. 1Q) (Unwin & Martill, 2007; Barrett *et al.*, 2008). Chaoyangopterids are interpreted as piscivorous and generalists (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on associations and comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). *Chaoyangopterus zhangi* is known from lacustrine deposits with numerous fishes (Wang & Zhou, 2006). Comparative anatomical evidence is based on the scissor-like edentulous jaws of these pterosaurs helping to catch fish when on the wing (Wang & Zhou, 2006).

Biological Reviews (2018) 000-000 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Chaoyangopterids exhibit similar limb proportions to related groups such as azhdarchids that have been proposed as ground-based foragers (see Section IV.16) (Witton, 2013).

(15) Thalassodromidae

Thalassodromids are from the Lower Cretaceous of Brazil (125–100 Ma) (Barrett *et al.*, 2008). These pterosaurs had 2–5 m wingspans, edentulous jaws and large laterally flattened cranial crests (Fig. 1R) (Kellner & Campos, 2002*b*; Humphries *et al.*, 2007). Thalassodromids are interpreted as piscivorous and as generalists (Fig. 3).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and functional morphology (Fig. 3). *Thalassodromeus sethi* lower jaws were proposed to be similar to skimming *Rynchops* (Kellner & Campos, 2002*a,b*). Lower jaw replicas of *Thalassodromeus* and *Tupuxuara cristata* placed in flume tanks however, experienced levels of drag that would not have allowed stable skimming (Humphries *et al.*, 2007).

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Thalassodromid hind-limbs are apparently robust, and the group was interpreted as terrestrially foraging opportunists (Witton, 2013).

(16) Azhdarchidae

Azhdarchids are from the Upper Cretaceous (99–66 Ma) of North America, North Africa, Eastern Europe and Asia (Barrett *et al.*, 2008; Averianov *et al.*, 2015). These pterosaurs exhibit 1.5–11 m wingspans and possess elongated necks and skulls (Fig. 1S), and disproportionally small bodies and feet for their size (Paul, 1987; Witton & Naish, 2008). Azhdarchids are interpreted as carnivorous and piscivorous with some suggestions of generalism, durophagy, insectivory and herbivory/frugivory (Fig. 3).

Carnivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy, associations, ichnology and functional morphology (Fig. 3). Comparative anatomical interpretations include long necks and jaws (Fig. 1S) for carcass probing (Lawson, 1975; Wilkinson & Ruxton, 2012) and/or aerial predation (Nessov, 1984; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004). Their necks, however, have been reinterpreted as too stiff for these roles, and azhdarchids have alternatively been suggested as ground-based predators and scavengers based on their long limbs (Witton & Naish, 2008, 2015; Witton, 2013; Naish & Witton, 2017). Where multiple azhdarchids are known, niche partitioning is suggested (Witton & Naish, 2008; Naish et al., 2015). The Hateg Basin, Romania, for example contains Hatzegopteryx thambema with a 10 m wingspan (Witton & Naish, 2015), Eurazhdarcho langendorfensis with a 3 m wingspan, and an unnamed azhdarchid with a 3 m wingspan and short, wide cervical vertebrae (Vremir et al., 2015). Hatzegopteryx was reasoned to have consumed the largest prey, with the short-necked azhdarchid consuming larger prey than Eurazhdarcho as its neck potentially offered greater mechanical advantages (Vremir et al., 2015).

Piscivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy, functional morphology and ichnofossils (Fig. 3). Possible azhdarchid track-ways on mudflats suggest wading behaviours (Unwin, 2007). However azhdarchid feet have been argued to have been too small to have provided support on sandy, muddy ground (Witton & Naish, 2008). Comparative anatomy of azhdarchid necks suggests some articulation at their shoulders which may have allowed their heads rudimentarily to bend forward and seize fish on the wing (Martill et al., 1998; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004; Averianov, 2013). Functional morphology indicates azhdarchid gapes similar to Rynchops, based on jaw bone articulations, suggesting skim-feeding (Kellner & Langston, 1996; Ősi, 2004). However this was not supported by flume tank results indicating that skim-feeding was energetically unfeasible (Humphries et al., 2007). Theoretical reconstructions of possible azhdarchid throat pouches suggest that scooping would have put incredibly high strain on their necks (Witton & Naish, 2015).

Durophagy interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). Contemporaneous invertebrate burrows led to the suggestion that azhdarchids were sediment probers for hard-shelled organisms (Wellnhofer, 1991). Jaw fragments from Morocco possess bony protuberances tentatively interpreted as structures for crushing mollusc shells (Martill & Ibrahim, 2015).

Generalism interpretations are based on comparative anatomy and associations (Fig. 3). Numerous azhdarchid remains from terrestrial deposits led to the hypothesis that azhdarchids were opportunistic ground-based foragers, with larger genera consuming more animals for higher energy returns (Witton & Naish, 2008, 2015; Witton, 2013).

Insectivory interpretations are based on ichnology (Fig. 3). Azhdarchid tracks on mudflats from the Unhangari Formation, South Korea, were interpreted as indicative of foraging for insects (Hwang *et al.*, 2002).

Herbivory/frugivory interpretations are based on comparative anatomy (Fig. 3). Azhdarchids have been reasoned to have fed on fruits given some jaw similarities to tapejarids (see Section IV.14) (Ősi, Weishampel & Jianu, 2005).

V. DISCUSSION

(1) Why is there a lack of consensus in pterosaur diet research?

Overall, there is limited consensus on diets for most pterosaur groups. Most dietary interpretations are supported by qualitative evidence, most commonly from comparative anatomy. There is strong consensus on diets for some pterosaur groups, such as insectivory in Anurognathidae and piscivory in Ornithocheiridae and Pteranodontidae, supported by one or several evidential categories. For other groups there is little consensus: in both basal ctenochasmatoids and Azhdarchidae, for example, six distinct diets have been suggested. In general, pterosaur principal groups with more species exhibit a higher diversity of dietary hypotheses. Choice of phylogeny has some impact on consensus, with the largest differences observed between phylogenies for non-monofenestratan groups. Numbers of dietary interpretations exhibit small increases for much of pterosaur research history, with most interpretations proposed in the 21st century. Changes in the number of dietary interpretations through time do not correlate with numbers of pterosaur publications.

That the majority of dietary interpretations are qualitative is unsurprising because such interpretations can be readily proposed without rigorous experiments or analyses. Comparative anatomy uses extrapolations from observational, and occasionally experimental, studies of extant organisms (Aerts, 1990; Kellner & Campos, 2002b; Witton & Naish, 2008). Associations similarly rely on straightforward understanding of modern food webs when reconstructing ecological relationships between contemporaneous taxa, and of geological processes when interpreting depositional environments of specimens (Wellnhofer, 1991; Frey & Tischlinger, 2012). Content fossils are often interpreted as direct records of trophic interactions between extinct organisms (Hone & Faulkes, 2014; Hone et al., 2015a; Witton, 2018), although their rarity limits their utility, and there is an inbuilt bias towards preservation of food items consumed immediately prior to death, which may be atypical (Davis & Pineda-Munoz, 2016). Furthermore, the usefulness of gut contents for indicating typical diet in animals that consume a range of items is limited when small sample sizes are all that is available. Analyses based on extant predators indicate that large numbers of individuals, from tens to even hundreds, need to be sampled to capture a true picture of diet (e.g. Szczepanski & Bengtson, 2014). Ichnofossils are more common, although the poor quality and uncertainty regarding the makers of many specimens limits robust ecological interpretations (Lockley & Wright, 2003; Lockley, Harris & Mitchell, 2008).

Many quantitative methods were not developed and readily utilised until the late 20th and early 21st centuries (Aerts, 1990; Lauder, 1995; Rayfield *et al.*, 2001), and are more difficult to use because: (*i*) they often require specialist technology and/or equipment; (*ii*) they require thorough understanding of experimental design and hypothesis testing; (*iii*) they can require destructive sampling of specimens (Aerts, 1990; Anderson *et al.*, 2011). Robust quantitative methods have therefore been unavailable for much of pterosaur research history.

There are several reasons why different groups of pterosaurs exhibit different levels of consensus regarding dietary interpretations. The observed correlation between species and numbers of dietary interpretations per principal group provides one possible explanation. Pterosaur groups that exploited more new food sources in their respective palaeoenvironments potentially underwent greater eco-morphological changes which facilitated further exploitation, likely resulting in more speciation events (Zhou *et al.*, 2017). Zhou *et al.* (2017) explored this idea by morphologically quantifying pterosaur skulls, jaws and dentitions with respect to assigned diets from the literature. The regions of morphospace occupied by pterosaurs were indeed better explained by their respective assigned diet than by evolutionary relatedness (Zhou *et al.*, 2017). Dietary assignments by Zhou *et al.* (2017), however, were primarily based on qualitative evidence and/or untested hypotheses from the literature and should therefore be interpreted with caution. The disparity in levels of consensus regarding diet across Pterosauria as shown in the current study illustrates the difficulty in reliably uncovering biological signals that may explain pterosaur dietary diversity.

Furthermore, pterosaur diets are unlikely to have fallen into discrete categories as described herein and in Zhou et al. (2017). Many interpretations of pterosaur feeding behaviours and diets from morphological evidence concern only what they appear to be optimally adapted to eat. This is because pterosaur functional attributes are mostly inferred from comparisons of skeletal features with analogous structures in modern taxa, under the assumption that similarity in morphology correlates with similarity in function (Lauder, 1995). However, other pterosaur tissues (muscles, nervous system, etc.) are rarely preserved and pterosaur structures may have had other functions related or unrelated to feeding, and flexibility in feeding behaviours that cannot be inferred from hard tissues alone (Lauder, 1995). This compromises the assumption that pterosaurs were adapted to consume only one type of food. Furthermore, pterosaurs might have occasionally consumed food items outside of their normal dietary ranges (see online Appendix S1). A modern example involves fruits and seeds found in the stomachs of several crocodilian species (Platt et al., 2013a). Crocodilians are renowned predators, but fruits and seeds have been found in high enough quantities to rule out accidental consumption [see Platt et al. (2013a) and references therein]. Although incorporating potential dietary plasticity would be very useful for palaeoecosystem reconstructions, we currently do not have the techniques to do so.

The lack of consensus in pterosaur dietary interpretations is more likely explained by non-biological and historical signals. The patchy quality of the pterosaur fossil record (Butler et al., 2012, 2013; Dean et al., 2016) is one non-biological example as some dietary interpretations are made on few and/or poorly preserved specimens, resulting in low confidence levels. Buckland (1829), for example, hypothesised insectivory in *Dimorphodon* based on the limited post-cranial material known at the time. Only with the description of the skull decades later was piscivory hypothesised (Seeley, 1901). Lonchodectids are interpreted as piscivores and generalists, but are mostly known from fragmentary remains (Unwin, 1996; Lü et al., 2016b). Basal dsungaripteroids are universally interpreted as durophagous but few dietary interpretations have been proposed, at least in part because their fossil record is poor (Bennett, 2006; Barrett et al., 2008). Pterosaurs from Lagerstätten and other deposits with well-preserved remains generally have

higher levels of dietary agreement. Pteranodontids are known from huge specimen numbers from the Niobrara Formation (Marsh, 1876; Eaton, 1910; Brown, 1943). Anuroganthids are known from few, but extremely well preserved, specimens from the Solnhofen Limestone and Tiaojishan and Yixian formations (Rjabinin, 1948; Bennett, 2003*b*, 2007). These finds have allowed thorough investigations into the functional morphology of these pterosaurs to test interpretations of piscivory and insectivory respectively (Bramwell & Whitfield, 1974; Hazlehurst & Rayner, 1992; Habib & Hall, 2012; Habib & Witton, 2013; Habib, 2015). This highlights the importance of finding more, and ideally well-preserved, specimens to generate and test dietary hypotheses.

Of all pterosaurs, azhdarchids have the greatest diversity of dietary interpretations, yet they are known from relatively fragmentary remains (Lawson, 1975; Cai & Wei, 1994; Vremir *et al.*, 2015). Azhdarchids are the largest flying organisms ever to have lived, thus it is reasonable to suggest that these pterosaurs have received disproportionate levels of scientific study (e.g. Lawson, 1975; Wellnhofer, 1991; Cai & Wei, 1994; Martill, 1997; Martill *et al.*, 1998; Hwang *et al.*, 2002; Chatterjee & Templin, 2004; Witton & Naish, 2008, 2015; Brown, 2015; Martill & Ibrahim, 2015; Vremir *et al.*, 2015). Higher levels of study on specimens of limited number and quality increase the likelihood of tentative, yet varied, dietary interpretations. This further indicates how levels of dietary consensus are at least partially confounded by non-biological signals.

Disputes over evolutionary relationships also mask biological signals of pterosaur diets. Placements of species within different groups make it difficult to elucidate whether dietary ranges are representative for principal groups or an artefact of the chosen phylogeny. This is especially problematic for non-monofenestratan groups because they exhibit lower morphological disparity than monofenestratan pterosaurs (Prentice *et al.*, 2011; Zhou *et al.*, 2017). The Andres phylogeny is an example of this as it contains fewer, more inclusive non-monofenestratan groups than the other phylogenies. Better resolution of the membership of pterosaur principal groups would therefore assist with elucidating true dietary ranges for each group. Better specimens of known taxa would assist with more confident phylogenetic placements.

The absence of correlation between numbers of pterosaur publications and dietary interpretations through time is unsurprising. Through the 19th and early 20th centuries, pterosaur publications mainly comprised species descriptions and systematics from European and North American Lagerstätten such as Solnhofen and the Niobrara Chalk (Marsh, 1876; Seeley, 1901; Eaton, 1910; Arthaber, 1921). Very few of these studies hypothesised diets as during this time period ecology was a largely unrecognised area of scientific study. The slight decrease in publications during the middle 20th century saw few new specimen and species descriptions (Rjabinin, 1948). The increase in publications in the latter half of the 20th century coincided

with discoveries of new Lagerstätten, including the Santana and Crato formations in Brazil (Wellnhofer & Kellner, 1991; Unwin & Martill, 2007), and the Yixian Formation in China (Ji, Ji & Padian, 1999), as well as a broader renaissance in reptile palaeobiology. New, morphologically distinct, pterosaur groups were discovered during this time, resulting in new hypothesised diets such as filter-feeding in ctenochasmatids (Bakker, 1986), herbivory/frugivory in tapejarids (Wellnhofer & Kellner, 1991) and generalism in lonchodectids (Unwin, 1996). The last guarter of the 20th century also saw palaeontological research expand from mostly description- and systematic-based studies to focus also on the wider biology and ecology of extinct taxa (Bramwell & Whitfield, 1974; Bramble, 1978; Bakker, 1986; Witmer, 1995). Many pterosaurs described during and after this time included some ecological interpretation, including possible diet, but many of these interpretations were constructed from simple qualitative comparisons and analogies with modern biology. The 1 year in which numbers of dietary interpretations exceeded that of pterosaur publications, 1991, can be explained by the publication of a comprehensive summary and interpretation of pterosaur research up to that time, including dietary interpretations for most pterosaur groups (Wellnhofer, 1991) (see online Appendix S1). Further pterosaur specimen discoveries, e.g. the Tiaojishan and Jiufotang Formations (Wang & Zhou, 2006; Lü et al., 2010; Lü & Bo, 2011), continued the increase in publications into the 21st century.

Increases in the number and rate of publication and dietary interpretations is also explained in part by the application of new techniques and new types of evidence. These include biomechanical analyses (Bramwell & Whitfield, 1974; Fastnacht, 2005; Hone & Henderson, 2014; Henderson, 2018), and stable isotope analyses (Amiot *et al.*, 2010; Tütken & Hone, 2010). Ichnofossil evidence was not used to inform dietary interpretations until the 21st century due to debates over whether the creators of ichnofossils were pterosaurian or crocodilian (Lockley & Wright, 2003).

Greater appreciation for pterosaurs, and extinct taxa in general, as organisms with independent evolutionary histories which faced unique selection pressures in their respective palaeoenvironments, are helping with the construction of testable hypotheses (Witton & Habib, 2010; Fiorillo et al., 2015). Many pterosaur dietary interpretations in the 19th and 20th centuries were based on simple extrapolations from modern flying vertebrates or semi-aquatic reptiles (Seeley, 1901; Padian, 1980, 1983; Wellnhofer, 1991; Unwin & Henderson, 2002; Hone, 2012). These ideas over time sometimes became established as received wisdom and were generally not subject to scrutiny or testing. Noted similarities between Dimorphodon and puffin rostra, as evidence of piscivory in the pterosaur, for example (see Section IV.2) (Seeley, 1901; Bakker, 1986), were overly simplified as the *Dimorphodon* rostrum is formed from bone whereas the Fratercula rostrum is formed from keratin and soft tissues (Ösi, 2011; Badikova & Dzerzhynsky, 2015). More sophisticated flight models indicate that Dimorphodon did not have the flight profile of an able fisher (Witton, 2008, 2015a), which has begun to cast doubt on this long-untested hypothesis of diet for this pterosaur. Earlier flight models directly extrapolated pterosaur weights from modern birds with little account for the structural differences between avian and pterosaurian skeletons, with interpretations of pterosaur feeding ecology, and consequently diet, sometimes constructed from these models (Padian, 1980, 1983; Rayner, 1989; Hazlehurst & Ravner, 1992). Many later quantitative studies account for independent evolutionary histories and have produced strongly supported dietary hypotheses for some pterosaurs, including anurognathids (see Section IV.3) (Habib & Hall, 2012; Habib & Witton, 2013), and pteranodontids (see Section IV.9a) (Hone & Henderson, 2014; Habib, 2015). However, in other groups they have provided evidence for new diets, such as generalism in basal ctenochasmatoids (Henderson, 2018).

Current dietary diversities and evidential categories show that we currently lack reliable evidence to support dietary interpretations for many pterosaur groups, and this prevents us from teasing out the biological signals explaining pterosaur diet diversity and disparity. Greater use of robust, experiment-led approaches, in tandem with other lines of evidence, is therefore needed to construct plausible dietary hypotheses in pterosaurs with low levels of dietary consensus and to test interpretations in pterosaurs with higher levels of consensus. This will help uncover biological signals for understanding pterosaur dietary evolution and for reconstructing Mesozoic ecosystems.

(2) How appropriate are current methods for forming dietary hypotheses?

The range of methods employed in analysis of pterosaurs has proven highly successful in generating interpretations of diet. What is less clear, however, is how well they have performed in differentiating between alternative interpretations, and this partly explains why, for most pterosaur groups, multiple interpretations have been proposed. Greater use of analytical and experiment-led methodologies (Veldmeijer *et al.*, 2007; Padian, 2008*a*), along with careful experimental design and full appreciation of the methods and study taxa (Unwin & Henderson, 2002; Hutchinson, 2012) has the potential to improve both the rigour and consistency of dietary interpretations. No single method will provide complete understanding; application of multiple independent techniques is likely to yield the most robust interpretations.

(a) Comparative anatomy

Comparative anatomy is fundamental for analysis of homology and character evolution but has limitations as a tool for analysis of function and diet. Its application in this context is based on the assumption that convergence of morphological structures between extant and extinct taxa allows us to infer similar functional roles for structures in extinct taxa, including foraging and feeding ecology (Gould & Lewontin, 1979; Fisher, 1985; Purnell, 1999; Ferry-Graham *et al.*, 2002). In essence, interpretations are based on analogy (see Thomason, 1995).

There are a number of difficulties with this approach, not least of which is that many examples of its application can be criticised as 'adaptationist' (Gould & Lewontin, 1979; Fisher, 1985; Ferry-Graham et al., 2002). Criticism is valid where structures are studied as single traits that are assumed to be optimised for their particular hypothesised function, without consideration of phylogenetic and fabricational constraints that limit organisms' capacity to adapt to selective forces (Seilacher, 1970; Gould & Lewontin, 1979). Similarly, for many structures it is probably unrealistic to assume that they are adapted to perform a single function, resulting in trade-offs and a structure that is optimally adapted for neither role. The link between form and function is not always evident: teeth of one form can be applied to the consumption of a variety of foodstuffs, for example. This is what lies behind Liem's paradox, where organisms possess feeding-related morphologies that are apparently specialised for particular food items, but whose typical diets are composed of other constituents (Robinson & Wilson, 1998; Binning, Chapman & Cosandey-Godin, 2009). Conversely, traits that appear different can perform the same functions. Categorised as many-to-one mapping of form and function (Wainwright et al., 2005), this further undermines the value of analogy in interpreting function and diet. Unfortunately, many interpretations of pterosaur diet that draw on evidence of comparative anatomy fall into these traps. Most analyses focus exclusively on skulls, jaws or even individual teeth (Fastnacht, 2005; Ősi, 2011), and while not necessarily wrong, they often fail to account for the various constraints on optimal design and the possibility of many-to-one mapping.

The main issue is that hypotheses and interpretations generated through analogy and comparative anatomical approaches in themselves provide no mechanism for testing, and in some cases fail to pass the basic scientific criterion of testability. One interpretation of diet based on an extant functional analogue might conflict with another interpretation, equally well supported with a different analogue. Without employing methods in addition to comparative anatomy, such as functional morphological analyses, the only criteria upon which to evaluate such conflicting hypotheses are the ultimately subjective assessments of plausibility [see Purnell (1999) for discussions of similar issues in a different phylogenetic context].

(b) Associations

Despite the straightforwardness of using associations, deriving dietary interpretations from simple presence and/or absence of contemporaneous fossils amounts to little more than speculation. Likewise, solely examining depositional environments does not account for organism dispersal abilities and taphonomic biases such as carcass transportation (Veldmeijer *et al.*, 2007; Witton & Naish, 2008; Tütken & Hone, 2010). Associations are nevertheless important for pterosaur research as they can serve as starting points for forming hypotheses when using experimental approaches.



Fig. 8. Finite Element Analysis output of a *Pterodactylus* skull in right lateral view with teeth absent. Around 100 N of external force, denoted by the red arrow, is applied to the skull anterior to simulate a bite. Colour deformation indicates Von Mises stress (MPa), with brighter colours denoting high stress as indicated in the key. N.B.: *Pterodactylus* bone strength was taken from human skull strengths. Adapted from Fastnacht (2005).

(c) Functional morphology

Quantitative methods have begun to shift the emphasis away from a largely comparative, analogy-based framework towards a more hypothesis-testing approach, but also have their own issues. For example, structural attributes, including bone strength, can never be directly measured from fossil material and must be inferred from extant analogues. This is especially problematic for taxa with no extant descendants, such as pterosaurs. Functional morphological models are therefore only as representative as the parameters set and assumptions made in the experimental design (Anderson et al., 2011). Some investigations into pterosaur biting behaviours, such as the FEA and cantilever analyses of Fastnacht (2005) (Fig. 8), used human bone strengths as substitutes. These issues can be mitigated through sensitivity analyses designed to test the impact of starting conditions, such as the mechanical properties of structures, on the outputs of biomechanical models (Bright & Rayfield, 2011). The mechanical properties of bone and skeletal structures for theses analyses can be measured in extant taxa using strain gauges, either in live feeding trials (in vivo data) (Porro et al., 2013), or in experimental application of external loads to the skulls of deceased organisms (ex vivo data) (Bright & Rayfield, 2011; Rayfield, 2011). Sensitivity analyses on ex vivo data from domestic pig (Sus domesticus) crania, for example, found that models which accounted for the heterogeneous nature of material properties in bone across the cranium exhibited fewest discrepancies with experimental outputs (Bright & Rayfield, 2011). Bone strength data can be subsequently extrapolated into models of extinct taxa, such as pterosaurs, and will improve our understanding of extinct functional behaviours (Degrange et al., 2010; Bright, 2014).

In vivo and ex vivo validation tests have also been performed on modern archosaurs including alligators (Porro et al., 2013) and ostriches (Rayfield, 2011), but further tests are needed on other archosaurs before these data can be confidently extrapolated to pterosaurs. Potential candidates include sea birds and piscivorous crocodilians as they have been suggested as pterosaur analogues (Seeley, 1901; Hazlehurst & Rayner, 1992; Witton, 2008; Bennett, 2014), and form an extant phylogenetic bracket around pterosaurs (Bennett, 1996; Nesbitt, 2011), with size and bone thickness differences between these taxa and pterosaurs taken into account. Adductor and neck musculatures could also be incorporated further to assess stress and strain distributions (Lautenschlager *et al.*, 2013). This could help confirm whether pterosaurs procured and processed food items as hypothesised from earlier muscle reconstructions (Ősi, 2011; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2014). Functional impacts of pterosaur rhamphothecas should also be investigated for relevant taxa because food items do not make direct contact with bone during feeding (Lautenschlager *et al.*, 2013).

Understanding pterosaur locomotion, including terrestrial (walking), aerial (stall speeds) and aquatic-based (diving and wading) behaviours can provide new constraints, or corroborate existing constraints, on possible foraging strategies and food-acquisition behaviours. Locomotory models, however, are heavily influenced by mass estimations (Witton, 2008, 2015a; Henderson, 2010; Witton & Habib, 2010). Greater account needs to be made for the unique pterosaur body construction to allow pterosaur flight profiles to be more confidently placed within suitable biological contexts (Fig. 9). Humerus and femur structural strength models used for anurograthids (see Section IV.3) could be applied to other pterosaurs to investigate terrestrial behaviours (Habib & Hall, 2012; Habib & Witton, 2013). Terrestrial behaviours can also be partially verified through ichnofossil interpretations. Energy consumption modelling (see Section IV.8) should be used for pterosaurs with well-constrained mass estimates to calculate energy expenditures of locomotory behaviours to assess energetic viabilities of different diets (Habib, 2015).

(d) Content fossils

Content fossils, although rare, are an important part of investigations into extinct diets (Wild, 1984; Hone & Faulkes, 2014; Hone et al., 2015a; Witton, 2018). Over-reliance on further discoveries of these fossils, however, is ill advised. Issues include alternative explanations of content fossils as post mortem artefacts, with items introduced via water flows (Tweet et al., 2008), and incorrectly inferring extents of dietary specialism through preservation of items consumed almost immediately prior to death (Platt et al., 2013b; Davis & Pineda-Munoz, 2016), and/or through small sample sizes (e.g. Szczepanski & Bengtson, 2014; see Section V.1). While careful consideration of specimen depositional environments should help account for *post mortem* artefacts, content fossil evidence can only ever indicate that a species sometimes consumed a particular food item and is therefore best interpreted in conjunction with other lines of evidence (Frey & Tischlinger, 2012).

(e) Ichnofossils

Well-preserved ichnofossils can indicate possible foraging and/or feeding behaviours such as swimming and sediment

Aspect ratio Vyctosaurus Marine soarers **Diving birds** Pteranodon Anhanguera Rhamphorhynchus Pterodactvlus Ctenochasma urognathus Wing loading Dsungaripterus Preondactvlus Water birds Aerial Dimorphodon predators Quetzalcoatlus Thermal Poor' fliers soarers

Fig. 9. Ecomorphospace of modern birds (grey shading) and 19 sampled pterosaurs (black dashed area with selected genera) with respect to aspect ratio and wing loading, as deduced from mass estimations and bone strength analyses, to infer possible flight styles. Specified foraging ecologies (marine soarers, diving birds, water birds, 'poor' fliers, thermal soarers, aerial predators), refer to modern bird flight styles. Adapted from Witton (2013).

probing (Hwang et al., 2002). However, extrapolating inferred behaviours from trace fossils to contemporary pterosaurs does not guarantee those taxa were the perpetrators. Potential peck marks are vet to be verified as pterosaurian in origin. The absence of Late Triassic and Early Jurassic pterosaur ichnofossils may reflect an unknown preservation bias towards environments with softer sediments (Lockley & Wright, 2003; Witton, 2018), as opposed to air-based feeding (Unwin, 2007). Ichnology is becoming more objective through 3D photogrammetry, which produces high-resolution digital reconstructions via alignment of photographs taken from numerous angles (Fig. 10) (Falkingham, 2012; Breithaupt et al., 2015). 3D photogrammetry offers more-effective ways of assessing ichnofossil perpetrators, locomotory behaviours and depositional environments (Fig. 10) (Xing et al., 2012; Breithaupt et al., 2015), which can aid in investigating diet.

(f) Stable isotope analysis

Analysis of stable isotopes provides an additional source of data that is independent of morphological evidence. It is commonly applied to extant vertebrates as a tool for dietary analysis, in many cases focusing on δ^{15} N and/or δ^{13} C. In the context of extant animals, isotopic approaches to dietary reconstruction are not without methodological limitations (Nielsen, Popp & Winder, 2015; Nielsen *et al.*, 2017). Analysis of δ^{15} N, for example, provides a measure of the relative trophic position of a species within a specific trophic web, rather than food items consumed



Fig. 10. Left; outlined pterosaur *pes* (p; hindlimb) and *manus* (m; forelimb) impressions (Institute of Geology and Palaeontology, Linyi University, Linyi City, Shandong, China; LUGP3-001.2) from the Qugezhuang Formation, China. Scale bar, 10 cm. Right; 3D photogrammetric model of artificial casts of LUGP3-001.2. Blue denotes higher topographies, red-white areas denote lower topographies. Topographical differences between the *pes* and *manus* impressions are potentially caused by variable substrate consistencies. Adapted from Xing *et al.* (2012).

(Crawford, McDonald & Bearhop, 2008), and multiple dietary combinations can result in the same δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values (Caut, Angulo & Courchamp, 2009). Using isotopic evidence to infer diets in fossils is even more problematic. Some of the most informative stable isotopic analyses for dietary reconstruction, such as δ^{15} N, are based on sampling tissues and biomolecules that do not preserve in typical fossils that are millions of years old (e.g. blood, muscle, hair, bone collagen). Analysis of carbon isotopes from tooth enamel is possible, but this is primarily used to infer the relative proportions of C₃ and C₄ plants consumed (see Davis & Pineda-Munoz, 2016), so not useful for analysis of pterosaurs.

To date, there have been only a few investigations of stable isotopes in pterosaurs, primarily because sampling is destructive and well-preserved pterosaur remains are comparatively rare. The analyses looked at δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C (Amiot *et al.*, 2010; Tütken & Hone, 2010), which provide evidence of habitat rather than diet *per se*, i.e. signals of freshwater *versus* marine environments, for example (Fig. 11). Future work could focus on well-preserved fragmentary, and thus expendable, material such as isolated teeth, to provide new dietary constraints for pterosaurs.

(g) Quantitative 3D microtextural analysis of tooth microwear

Only one study has examined dental wear patterns on pterosaur teeth and used this to infer aspects of diet and the material properties of food (Ősi, 2011). Dietary hypotheses from this study were constructed from observations of gross pterosaur tooth and wear pattern morphology using two-dimensional (2D) images from scanning electron



Fig. 11. Stable isotope analysis of ornithocheirid teeth (black filled square), and terrestrial and aquatic vertebrates from the Upper Cretaceous Kem Kem beds, Morocco. Oxygen is expressed as δ^{18} O versus standard mean oceanic water (V-SMOW) and carbon is expressed as δ^{13} C versus a marine carbonate (V-PDB). The pterosaur δ^{18} O range is generally similar to fish δ^{18} O ranges (grey filled circles), although the pterosaur δ^{13} C range is more similar to other vertebrates (dinosaurs, black filled triangles; turtles, open square; crocodilians, open circle). This suggests that Kem Kem pterosaurs consumed freshwater fish. Adapted from Amiot *et al.* (2010).

microscopy (SEM) (Ősi, 2011). Identifying and interpreting features in this way however, can be problematic because inter-observer error rates are high and identification of wear features is influenced by the orientation of specimens relative to the electron beam and detector within the SEM (Ungar *et al.*, 2003; Scott *et al.*, 2005, 2006).

A more robust approach involves quantitative analysis of the sub-micron scale 3D surface textures of teeth, known as dental microwear texture analysis (DMTA; Ungar et al., 2003; Scott et al., 2006). Microwear is produced on teeth when an organism feeds, as interactions with food items cause microscopic chipping and scratching on tooth surfaces (Rensberger, 1978; Walker, Hoeck & Perez, 1978; Teaford, 1988). As microwear formation is determined by the material properties of food, the technique provides direct evidence of the nature of what has been consumed, and analysis does not rely on assumptions of a close relationship between the morphology and inferred functions of teeth (Purnell, Seehausen & Galis, 2012; Daegling et al., 2013; Purnell & Darras, 2016). Because data acquisition is not operator dependent, DMTA avoids the inherent observer bias of 2D analyses. Most applications of DMTA focus on placental mammals with occlusal dentitions, but it is applicable to dietary analysis of older, more basal material, and to taxa with non-occlusal dentitions (Purnell et al., 2012; Gill et al.,

2014; Purnell & Darras, 2016). Its applicability to pterosaurs is the subject of on-going investigation. Analysis of tooth surface textures in pterosaurs, when validated against those of extant taxa with known dietary differences, has the potential to provide robust tests of dietary hypotheses.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) A range of diets have been proposed for pterosaurs including insectivory, piscivory, carnivory, durophagy, filter-feeding and generalism.

(2) Most pterosaur dietary interpretations are supported by qualitative evidence including comparative anatomy, associations, content fossils and ichnofossils with a minority supported by quantitative evidence from functional morphology and isotope analyses.

(3) Some pterosaur principal groups exhibit high levels of consensus regarding diet, supported by several evidential categories; others exhibit lower levels of consensus, with different interpretations inferred from conflicting evidence of the same categorical type, and typically poorly constrained analogy drawn from comparative anatomy.

(4) More speciose pterosaur groups exhibit higher diversity of hypothesised diets. Whilst this may reflect biological signals such as ecological radiations or niche partitioning, non-biological causes, such as historical biases in the data, quality of the fossil record and research intensity are more likely. These biases mean it is currently difficult to reliably test the hypothesis that the apparent patterns of pterosaur dietary diversity and disparity are biologically controlled.

(5) Examining patterns of dietary diversity using different phylogenies reveals higher consensus among monofenestratan groups and lower consensus in non-monofenestratan groups. Better resolution on the membership of pterosaur groups would assist in uncovering true diets for respective groups.

(6) Numbers of pterosaur publications per year and dietary interpretations do not correlate through time. The majority of interpretations were proposed in the 21st century. The almost exponential rise in the number of publications containing dietary interpretations since the 1980s coincides with discoveries of new Lagerstätten and other exceptionally preserved sites, as well as applications of new techniques to pterosaurs.

(7) Many dietary interpretations are based on simple extrapolations and comparisons with modern biology with little scope for testing. Qualitative methods can serve as starting points for generating hypotheses, but quantitative tests provide more robust analyses and insights into dietary diversity, evolution and the ecological roles of pterosaurs. Improvements to current methods and application of novel methods to pterosaurs will provide better constraints on diets in pterosaurs with low levels of consensus, and better tests of dietary hypotheses in pterosaurs with high levels of consensus. This will allow reliable investigations into possible biological signals behind pterosaur dietary diversity and disparity, which will allow greater understanding of pterosaur dietary evolution and facilitate reconstructions of Mesozoic ecosystems.

VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All authors contributed to the conception of the study and analytical design. J.B. and D.M.U. collected the data. J.B. analysed the data. J.B. wrote the manuscript with contributions from all authors. Thanks to Romain Amiot, Mark Witton and Li-Da Xing for permissions for Figs 11, 9 and 10, respectively. Thanks to Mark Witton for access to useful papers and discussions on pterosaur diets. Thanks to The Pterosaur Database, and Polyglot Palaeontologist (http://www.paleoglot.org) for access to useful papers. We thank two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments on the manuscript. J.B. is funded by a NERC studentship awarded through the Central England NERC Training Alliance (CENTA; grant reference NE/L002493/1) and by the University of Leicester.

VIII. REFERENCES

- AERTS, P. (1990). Mathematical biomechanics and the "what!", "how?" and "why?" in functional morphology. *Netherlands Journal of Zoology* **40**, 153–172.
- AMIOT, R., WANG, X., LÉCUYER, C., BUFFETAUT, E., BOUDAD, L., CAVIN, L., DING, Z., FLUTEAU, F., KELLNER, A. W. A., TONG, H. & ZHANG, F. (2010). Oxygen and carbon isotope compositions of middle Cretaceous vertebrates from North Africa and Brazil: ecological and environmental significance. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 297, 439–451.
- ANDERSON, P. S., BRIGHT, J. A., GILL, P. G., PALMER, C. & RAYFIELD, E. J. (2011). Models in palaeontological functional analysis. *Biology Letters* 8, 119–122.
- ANDRES, B. (2015). Death and taxa: the shape of pterosaur evolution. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*. University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- ANDRES, B., CLARK, J. & XU, X. (2014). The earliest pterodactyloid and the origin of the group. *Current Biology* 24, 1011–1016.
- ARTHABER, G. (1921). Über Entwicklung, Ausbildung und Absterben der Flugsaurier. Paläontlooische Zeitschrift 4. 1–47.
- AVERIANOV, A. O. (2013). Reconstruction of the neck of Azhdarcho lancicollis and lifestyle of azhdarchids (Pterosauria, Azhdarchidae). Paleontological Journal 47, 203–209.
- AVERIANOV, A. O., DYKE, G., DANILOV, I. & SKUTSCHAS, P. (2015). The paleoenvironments of azhdarchid pterosaurs localities in the Late Cretaccous of Kazakhstan. *ZooKeys* 483, 59–80.
- BADIKOVA, A. A. & DZERZHYNSKY, F. Y. (2015). Functional morphology and adaptive features of the jaw apparatus in puffins (Fraterculini, Alcidae, and Charadriiformes). *Biology Bulletin* 42, 622–632.
- BAKHURINA, N. N. & UNWIN, D. M. (1995). A survey of pterosaurs from the Jurassic and Cretaceous of the Former Soviet Union and Mongolia. *Historical Biology* 10, 197–245.
- BAKKER, R. T. (1986). *The Dinosaur Heresies*. William Morrow and Co, New York.
- BARRETT, P. M., BUTLER, R. J., EDWARDS, N. P. & MILNER, A. R. (2008). Pterosaur distribution in time and space: an atlas. *Zitteliana* B28, 61–107.
- BENNETT, S. C. (1993). The ontogeny of *Pteranodon* and other other pterosaurs. *Paleobiology* **19**, 92–106.
- BENNETT, S. C. (1994). The pterosaurs of the Niobrara Chalk. The Earth Scientist 11, 22–25.
- BENNETT, S. C. (1996). The phylogenetic position of the Pterosauria within the Archosauromorpha. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 118, 261–308.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2001). The osteology and functional morphology of the Late Cretaceous pterosaur *Pteranodon* (parts 1 and 2). *Palaeontographica Abteilung* A 260, 1–153.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2003a). New crested specimens of the Late Cretaceous pterosaur Nyctosaurus. Paläontologische Zeitschrift 77, 61–75.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2003b). New insights into Anuroganthus and Anurognathids. Rivista del Museo Civico di Scienze Naturali "E.Caffi" Bergamo 22, 9–11.

- BENNETT, S. C. (2006). Juvenile specimens of the pterosaur Germanodactylus cristatus, with a review of the genus. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 26, 872–878.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2007). A second specimen of the pterosaur Anurognathus ammoni. Paläontologische Zeitschrift 81, 376–398.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2012). New information on body size and cranial display structures of *Pterodactylus antiquus*, with a revision of the genus. *Paläontologische Zeitschrift* 87, 269–289.
- BENNETT, S. C. (2014). A new specimen of the pterosaur Scaphognathus crassivostris, with comments on constraint of cervical vertebrae number in pterosaurs. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie - Abhandlungen 271, 327–348.
- BENSON, R. B., FRIGOT, R. A., GOSWAMI, A., ANDRES, B. & BUTLER, R. J. (2014). Competition and constraint drove Cope's rule in the evolution of giant flying reptiles. *Nature Communications* 5, 3567.
- BENTON, M. J. (1999). Scleromochlus taylori and the origin of dinosaurs and pterosaurs. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 354, 1423–1446.
- BINNING, S. A., CHAPMAN, L. J. & COSANDEY-GODIN, A. (2009). Specialized morphology for a generalist diet: evidence for Liem's Paradox in a cichlid fish. *Journal of Fish Biology* 75, 1683–1699.
- BRAMBLE, C. D. (1978). Origin of the mammalian feeding complex: models and mechanisms. *Paleobiology* 4, 271–301.
- BRAMWELL, C. D. & WHITFIELD, G. R. (1974). Biomechanics of Pteranodon. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 267, 503–581.
- BREITHAUPT, B. H., MATTHEWS, N. A., CONNELY, M. V. & MEYERS, V. L. (2015). Pterosaur terrestrial locomotion, pterosaur tracks, and photogrammetric ichnology of *Pteraichnus* and other ichnotaxa. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- BRIGHT, J. A. (2014). A review of paleontological finite element models and their validity. *Journal of Paleontology* 88, 760–769.
- BRIGHT, J. A. & RAYFIELD, E. J. (2011). Sensitivity and *ex vivo* validation of finite element models of the domestic pig cranium. *Journal of Anatomy* 219, 456–471.
- BROWN, B. (1943). Flying reptiles. Natural History 52, 104-111.
- BROWN, J. (2015). Neurovascular foramina on the jaws of an azhdarchid pterosaur: implications for prey detection. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- BUCKLAND, W. (1829). On the discovery of a new species of Pterodactyle in the Lias at Lyme Regis. Transactions of the Geological Society, London 3, 217–222.
- BUTLER, R. J., BENSON, R. B. J. & BARRETT, P. M. (2013). Pterosaur diversity: untangling the influence of sampling biases, Lagerstätten, and genuine biodiversity signals. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **372**, 78–87.
- BUTLER, R. J., BRUSATTE, S. L., ANDRES, B. & BENSON, R. B. J. (2012). How do geological sampling biases affect studies of morphological evolution in deep time? A case study of pterosaur (Reptilia: Archosauria) disparity. *Evolution* **66**, 147–162.
- CAI, Z. & WEI, F. (1994). *Zhejiangopterus linhaiensis* (Pterosauria) from the Upper Cretaceous of Linhai, Zhejiang, China. *Vertebrata PalAsiatica* 32, 181–194.
- CAUT, S., ANGULO, E. & COURCHAMP, F. (2009). Variation in discrimination factors (Δ15N and Δ13C): the effect of diet isotopic values and applications for diet reconstruction. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **46**, 443–453.
- CHATTERJEE, S. & TEMPLIN, R. J. (2004). Posture, locomotion, and paleoecology of pterosaurs. *Geological Society of America, Special Publications* 376, 1–64.
- CHIAPPE, L. M. & CHINSAMY, A. (1996). Pterodaustro's true teeth. Nature 379, 211–212.
 CHIAPPE, L. M., CODORNIÚ, L., GRELLET-TINNER, G. & RIVAROLA, D. (2004).
 Argentinian unhatched pterosaur fossil. Nature 432, 571–572.
- CHIAPPE, L. M., RIVAROLA, D., CIONE, A., FREGENAK-MARTÍNEZ, M., SOZZI, H., BUATOIS, L., GALLEOGO, O., LAZA, J., ROMERO, E., LÓPEZ-ARBARELLO, A., BUSCALIONI, A., MARSCIANO, C., ADAMONIS, S., ORTEGA, F., MCGEHEE, S. & DI JORIO, O. (1998). Biotic association and palacoenvironmental reconstruction of the "Loma del *Pterodaustro*" fossil site (Early Cretaceous, Argentina). *Geobios* 31,
- 349–369. CHINSAMY, A., CODORNIÚ, L. & CHIAPPE, L. (2009). Palaeobiological implications of the bone histology of *Pterodaustro guinazui*. *The Anatomical Record: Advances in Integrative Anatomy and Evolutionary Biology* 292, 1462–1477.
- CHINSAMY-TURAN, A., CODORNIÚ, L. & CHIAPPE, L. (2008). Developmental growth patterns of the filter-feeding pterosaur, *Pterodaustro guinazui*. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 28, 63A.
- CODORNIÚ, L., CHIAPPE, L. M. & CID, F. D. (2013). First occurrence of stomach stones in pterosaurs. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 33, 647–654.
- CRAWFORD, K., MCDONALD, R. A. & BEARHOP, S. (2008). Applications of stable isotope techniques to the ecology of mammals. *Mammal Review* 38, 87–107.
- CROFTS, S. B. & SUMMERS, A. P. (2014). How to best smash a snail: the effect of tooth shape on crushing load. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 11, 20131053.
- DAEGLING, D. J., JUDEX, S., OZCIVICI, E., RAVOSA, M. J., TAYLOR, A. B., GRINE, F. E., TEAFORD, M. F. & UNGAR, P. S. (2013). Viewpoints: feeding mechanics, diet and dietary adaptations in early hominins. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 151, 356–371.
- DALLA VECCHIA, F. M. (1993). Cearadactylus² ligabuei nov. sp., a new early Cretaceous (Aptian) pterosaur from Chapada do Araripe (Northeastern Brazil). Bollettino della Società Paleontologica Italiana 32, 401–409.

Biological Reviews (2018) 000-000 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- DALLA VECCHIA, F. M. (2003). New morphological observations on Triassic pterosaurs. In *Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs*, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 23–44. Geological Society, London.
- DALLA VECCHIA, F. M. (2013). Triassic pterosaurs. In Anatomy, Phylogeny and Palaeobiology of Early Archosaurs and their Kin, Special Publications 379 (eds S. J. NESBITT, J. B. DESOJO and R. B. IRMMIS), pp. 119–155. Geological Society, London.
- DAVIS, M. & PINEDA-MUNOZ, S. (2016). The temporal scale of diet and dietary proxies. *Ecology and Evolution* 6, 1883–1887.
- DEAN, C. D., MANNION, P. D. & BUTLER, R. J. (2016). Preservational bias controls the fossil record of pterosaurs. *Palaeontology* 59, 225–247.
- DECECCHI, A., CADENA, E., DU, T. & LARSSON, H. (2014). Colombia's first pterosaur: a new genus of dsungaripterid documents a novel dental morphology in pterosaurs. *Journal of Paleontology*, Program and Abstracts, 119.
- DEGRANGE, F. J., TAMBUSSI, C. P., MORENO, K., WITMER, L. M. & WROE, S. (2010). Mechanical analysis of feeding behavior in the extinct "terror bird" Andalgalomis steulleti (Gruiformes: Phorusrhacidae). PLoS One 5, e11856.
- EATON, G. F. (1910). Osteology of Pteranodon. Memoirs of the Connecticut Academy of Arts of Sciences 2, 1–38.
- ELGIN, R. A. (2014). Palaeobiology, morphology and flight characteristics of pterosaurs. PhD Thesis: Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg, Heidelberg.
- EWER, R. F. (1965). The anatomy of the thecodont reptile Euparkeria capensis Broom. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 248, 379–435.
- FALKINGHAM, P. L. (2012). Acquisition of high resolution three-dimensional models using free, open source, photogrammetric software. *Palaeontologia Electronica* 15, 1T.
- FASTNACHT, M. (2005). Jaw mechanics of the pterosaur skull construction and the evolution of toothlessness. PhD Thesis: Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz, Mainz.
- FERRY-GRAHAM, L. A., BOLNICK, D. I. & WAINWRIGHT, P. C. (2002). Using functional morphology to examine the ecology and evolution of specialization. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 42, 265–277.
- FIORILLO, A. R., KOBAYASHI, Y., MCCARTHY, P. J., WRIGHT, T. C. & TOMSICH, C. S. (2015). Pterosaur tracks from the Lower Cantwell Formation (Campanian–Maastrichtian) of Denali National Park, Alaska, USA, with comments about landscape heterogeneity and habit preferences. *Historical Biology* 27, 672–683.
- FISHER, D. C. (1985). Evolutionary morphology: beyond the analogous, the anecdotal and the ad hoc. *Paleobiology* 11, 120–138.
- FLETCHER, T. L. & SALISBURY, S. W. (2010). New pterosaur fossils from the Early Cretaceous (Albian) of Queensland, Australia. *Journal of Palaeontology* 30, 1747–1759.
- FOTH, C., BRUSATTE, S. L. & BUTLER, R. J. (2012). Do different disparity proxies converge on a common signal? Insights from the cranial morphometrics and evolutionary history of Pterosauria (Diapsida: Archosauria). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 25, 904–915.
- FREY, E., BUCHY, M. C., STINNESBECK, W., GONZÁLEZ, A. G. & STEFANO, A. (2006). *Muzquizopteryx coahuilensis* n.g., n.sp., a nyctosaurid pterosaur with soft tissue preservation from the Coniacian (Late Cretaceous) of northeast Mexico (Coahuila). Oryclas 6, 19–40.
- FREY, E., MARTILL, D. M. & BUCHY, M. C. (2003). A new crested ornithocheirid from the Lower Cretaceous of Northeastern Brazil and the unusual death of an unusual pterosaur. In *Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs*, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 55–63. Geological Society, London.
- FREY, E. & TISCHLINGER, H. (2012). The Late Jurassic pterosaur Rhamphorhynchus, a frequent victim of the ganoid fish Aspidorhynchus? PLoS One 7, e31945.
- GILL, P. G., PURNELL, M. A., CRUMPTON, N., BROWN, K. R., GOSTLING, N. J., STAMPANONI, M. & RAYFIELD, E. J. (2014). Dietary specializations and diversity in feeding ecology of the earliest stem mammals. *Nature* 512, 303–305.
- GOULD, S. J. & LEWONTIN, R. C. (1979). The spandrels of San Marco and the Panglossian paradigm: a critique of the adaptationist programme. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* **205**, 581–598.
- GRELLET-TINNER, G., WROE, S., THOMPSON, M. B. & JI, Q. (2007). A note on pterosaur nesting behavior. *Historical Biology* 19, 273–277.
- HABIB, M. B. (2008). Comparative evidence for quadrupedal launch in pterosaurs. *Zitteliana* B28, 159–166.
- HABIB, M. B. (2015). Size limits of marine pterosaurs and energetic considerations of plunge versus pluck feeding. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- HABIB, M. B. & HALL, J. (2012). Mesozoic speed demons: flight performance of anuroganthial papers. American Society of Biomechanics, University of Florida, Gainesville, pp. 181–182.
- HABIB, M. B. & WITTON, M. P. (2013). Functional morphology of anurognathid pterosaurs and the evolution of insectivory in the Pterosauria. International Symposium on Pterosaurs, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. 74–76.
- HANKIN, E. H. (1912). The development of animal flight. *The Aeronautical Journal* 47, 24–40.
- HARGRAVE, J. E. (2007). Pteranodon (Reptilia: Pterosauria): stratigraphic distribution and taphonomy in the lower Pierre Shale Group (Campanian), western South Dakota and eastern Wyoming. Special Paper of the Geological Society of America 427, 215-225.

- HAZLEHURST, G. A. & RAYNER, J. M. V. (1992). Flight characteristics of Triassic and Jurassic Pterosauria: an appraisal based on vine shape. *Paleobiology* 18, 447–463.
- HENDERSON, D. M. (2010). Pterosaur body mass estimates from three-dimensional mathematical slicing. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 30, 768-785.
- HENDERSON, D. M. (2018). Using three-dimensional, digital models of pterosaur skulls for the investigation of their relative bite forces and feeding styles. In *New Perspectives on Pterosaur Palaeobiology*, Special Publications 455 (eds D. W. E. HONE, M. P. WITTON and D. M. MARTILL), pp. 25–44. Geological Society, London.
- HONE, D. W. E. (2012). Pterosaur research: recent advances and a future revolution. *Acta Geologica Sinica* 86, 1366–1376.
- HONE, D. W. E. & BENTON, M. J. (2008). Contrasting supertree and total-evidence methods: the origin of the pterosaurs. *Zitteliana* B28, 35–60.
- HONE, D. W. E. & FAULKES, C. G. (2014). A proposed framework for establishing and evaluating hypotheses about the behaviour of extinct organisms. *Journal of Zoology* 292, 260–267.
- HONE, D. W. E., HABIB, M. B. & LAMANNA, M. C. (2013). An annotated and illustrated catalogue of Solnhofen (Upper Jurassic, Germany) pterosaur specimens at Carnegie Musuem of Natural History. *Annals of Carnegie Museum* 82, 165–191.
- HONE, D. W. E. & HENDERSON, D. M. (2014). The posture of floating pterosaurs: ecological implications for inhabiting marine and freshwater habitats. *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology* **394**, 89–98.
- HONE, D. W. E., HENDERSON, D. M., THERRIEN, F. & HABIB, M. B. (2015a). A specimen of *Rhamphorhynchus* with soft tissue preservation, stomach contents and a putative coprolite. *Peerj* 3, e1191.
- HONE, D. W. E., XU, X., JIANG, S. & HUTCHISON, J. R. (2015b). The return of the holotype of *Noripterus* (Young, 1973) – implications for dsungaripterid taxonomy and a possible digitigrade pterosaur. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- HOOLEY, R. W. (1913). On the skeleton of Ornithodesmus latidens; an ornithosaur from the Wealden Shales of Atherfield (Isle of Wight). Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society 96, 372–422.
- HOWSE, S. C. B. & MILNER, A. R. (1995). The pterodactyloids from the Purbeck Limestone Formation of Dorset. Bulletin of the Natural History Museum of London 51, 73–88.
- HOWSE, S. C. B., MILNER, A. R. & MARTILL, D. M. (2001). Pterosaurs. In *Dinosaurs of the Isle of Wight, Field Guide to Fossils 10* (eds D. M. MARTILL and D. NAISH), 324–335. The Palaeontological Association, London.
- HUMPHRIES, S., BONSER, R. H., WITTON, M. P. & MARTILL, D. M. (2007). Did pterosaurs feed by skimming? Physical modelling and anatomical evaluation of an unusual feeding method. *PLoS Biology* 5, e204.
- HUTCHINSON, J. R. (2012). On the inference of function from structure using biomechanical modelling and simulation of extinct organisms. *Biology Letters* 8, 115–118.
- HWANG, K.-G., HUH, M. I. N., LOCKLEY, M. G., UNWIN, D. M. & WRIGHT, J. L. (2002). New pterosaur tracks (Pteraichnidae) from the Late Cretaceous Uhangri Formation, southwestern Korea. *Geological Magazine* 139, 421–435.
- HYDER, E. S., WITTON, M. P. & MARTILL, D. M. (2014). Evolution of the pterosaur pelvis. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 59, 109–124.
- JI, S. A., JI, Q. & PADIAN, K. (1999). Biostratigraphy of new pterosaurs from China. *Nature* 398, 573–574.
- KEAR, B. P., DEACON, G. L. & SIVERSON, M. (2010). Remains of a Late Cretaceous pterosaur from the Molecap Greensand of Western Australia. *Alcheringa: An Australasian Journal of Palaeontology* 34, 273–279.
- KELLNER, A. W. A. (2003). Pterosaur phylogeny and comments on the evolutionary history of the group. In *Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs*, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 105–137. Geological Society, London.
- KELLNER, A. W. A. & CAMPOS, D. A. (2002a). A large skimming pterosaur (Pterodactyloidea, Tapejaridae) from the Early Cretaceous of Brazil. *Journal of Paleontology* 22, 79A.
- KELLNER, A. W. A. & CAMPOS, D. A. (2002b). The function of the cranial crest and jaws of a unique pterosaur from the Early Cretaceous of Brazil. *Science* 297, 389–392.
- KELLNER, A. W. A. & LANGSTON, W. Jr. (1996). Cranial remains of Quetzalcoatlus (Pterosauria, Azhdarchidae) from the Late Cretaceous sediments of Big Bend National Park, Texas. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 16, 222–231.
- LAUDER, G. V. (1995). On the inference of function from structure. In *Functional Morphology in Vertebrate Paleontology* (ed. J. J. THOMASON), pp. 1–18. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- LAUTENSCHLAGER, S., WITMER, L. M., ALTANGEREL, P. & RAYFIELD, E. J. (2013). Edentulism, beaks, and biomechanical innovations in the evolution of theropod dinosaurs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110, 20657–20662.
- LAWSON, D. A. (1975). Pterosaur from the Latest Cretaceous of West Texas: discovery of the largest flying creature. *Science* 187, 947–948.
- LOCKLEY, M. G. & WRIGHT, J. L. (2003). Pterosaur swim tracks and other ichnological evidence of behaviour and ecology. In *Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs*, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 297–313. Geological Society, London.

- LÜ, J. (2015). The hyoid apparatus of *Liaoxipterus brachycephalus* (Pterosauria) and its implications for food-catching behavior. *Acta Geologica Sinica* 36, 362–366.
- LÜ, J., AZUMA, Y., DONG, Z., BARSBOLD, R., KOBAYASHI, Y. & LEE, Y.-N. (2009). New material of dsungaripterid pterosaurs (Pterosauria: Pterodactyloidea) from western Mongolia and its palaeoecological implications. *Geological Magazine* 146, 690–700.
- LÜ, J. & Bo, X. (2011). A new rhamphorhynchid pterosaur (Pterosauria) from the Middle Jurassic Tiaojishan Formation of Western Liaoning, China. Acta Geologica Sinica 85, 977–983.
- LÜ, J., KUNDRAT, M. & SHEN, C. (2016a). New material of the pterosaur Gladocephaloideus Lu et al., 2012 from the Early Cretaceous of Liaoning Province, China, with comments on its systematic position. PLoS One 11, e0154888.
- LÜ, J., LIU, C., LIJUN, P. & CAIZHI, S. (2016b). A new pterodactyloid pterosaur from the Early Cretaceous of the western part of Liaoning Province, northeastern China. *Acta Geologica Sinica* **90**, 777–782.
- LÜ, J., UNWIN, D. M., JIN, X., LIU, Y. & JI, Q. (2010). Evidence for modular evolution in a long-tailed pterosaur with a pterodactyloid skull. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 277, 383–389.
- LÜ, J., UNWIN, D. M., XU, L. & ZHANG, X. (2008a). A new azdarchoid pterosaur from the Lower Cretaceous of China and its implications for pterosaur phylogeny and evolution. *Natureissenschaften* 95, 891–897.
- LÜ, J., Xu, L. & JI, Q. (2008b). Restudy of *Liaoxipterus* (Istiodactylidae: Pterosauria), with comments on the Chinese istiodactylid pterosaurs. *Zitteliana* B28, 229–241.
- LÜ, J., UNWIN, D. M., DEEMING, D. C., JIN, X., LIU, Y. & JI, Q. (2011a). An egg-adult association, gender, and reproduction in pterosaurs. *Science* 331, 321–324.
- LÜ, J., XU, L., HUALI, C. & ZHANG, X. (2011b). A new darwinopterid pterosaur from the Middle Jurassic of Western Liaoning, Northeastern China, and its ecological interpretations. *Acta Geologica Sinica* 85, 507–514.
- MARSH, O. C. (1876). Notice of a new Suborder of Pterosauria. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, Series 3 18, 195–196.
- MARTILL, D. M. (1997). From hypothesis to fact in a flight of fancy: the responsibility of the popular scientific media. *Geology Today* 13, 71–73.
- MARTILL, D. M. (2014). A functional odontoid in the dentary of the Early Cretaceous pterosaur Istiodactylus latidens: implications for feeding. Cretaceous Research 47, 56–65.
- MARTILL, D. M., FREY, E., SADAQAH, R. M. & KHOURY, H. N. (1998). Discovery of the holotype of the giant pterosaur *Titanopteryx philadelphidae* Arambourg 1959, and the status of *Arambourgiana* and *Quetzalcoatlus*. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie* 207, 57–76.
- MARTILL, D. M. & ETCHES, S. (2013). A new monofenestratan pterosaur from the Kimmeridge Clay Formation (Upper Jurassic, Kimmeridgian) of Dorset, England. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica* 58, 285–294.
- MARTILL, D. M. & IBRAHIM, N. (2015). An unusual modification of the jaws in cf. Alanqa, a mid-Cretaceous azhdarchid pterosaur from the Kem Kem beds of Morocco. Cretaceous Research 53, 59–67.
- MATSUKAWA, M., SAIKI, K., ITO, M., OBATA, I., NICHOLS, D. J., LOCKLEY, M. G., KUKIHARA, R. & SHIBATA, K. (2006). Early Cretaceous terrestrial ecosystems in East Asia based on food-web and energy-flow models. *Cretaceous Research* 27, 285–307.
- MAZIN, J.-M., BILLON-BRUYAT, J.-P., HANTZPERGUE, P. & LAFAURIE, G. (2003). Ichnological evidence for quadrupedal locomotion in pterodactyloid pterosaurs: trackways from the Late Jurassic of Cryssac (southwestern France). In *Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs*, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 283–296. Geological Society, London.
- MEIJER, H. J. M., VAN DER MEIJ, M. M. E., VAN WAVEREN, I. & WELDMEIJER, A. J. (2007). Linking skull morphology to feeding in Tapejaridae: adaptations to frugivory in *Tapejara wellnhoferi*. In 3rd International Meeting on Pterosaurs, Bavaria State Collection for Palaeontology, Munich.
- MOLNAR, R. E. & THULBORN, R. A. (2007). An incomplete pterosaur skull from the Cretaceous of North-Central Queensland, Australia. Arquivos do Museu Nacional, Rio de Janeiro 65, 461–470.
- NAISH, D. & MARTILL, D. M. (2003). Pterosaurs a successful invasion of prehistoric skies. *Biologist* 50, 213–216.
- NAISH, D. & WITTON, M. P. (2017). Neck biomechanics indicate that giant azhdarchid pterosaurs were short-necked predators. *Peefj* 5, e2908.
- NAISH, D., WITTON, M. P., DYKE, G., MARTIN-SILVERSTONE, E., VREMIR, M. & TOTOIANU, R. (2015). Diversity and disparity in multi-species azhdarchid assemblages of Maastrichtian Transylvania. In *The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs*, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- NESBITT, S. J. (2011). The early evolution of archosaurs: relationships and the origin of major clades. PhD Thesis: American Museum of Natural History, New York.
- NESSOV, L. A. (1984). Pterosaurs and birds of the Cretaceous Central Asia. Paläontologische Zeitschrift ${\bf 1},\,47{-}57.$
- NIELSEN, J. M., CLARE, E. L., HAYDEN, B., BRETT, M. T., KRATINA, P. & GILBERT, M. T. P. (2017). Diet tracing in ecology: method comparison and selection. *Methods* in *Ecology and Evolution* **00**, 1–14.

- NIELSEN, J. M., POPP, B. N. & WINDER, M. (2015). Meta-analysis of amino acid stable nitrogen isotope ratios for estimating trophic position in marine organisms. *Oecologia* 178, 631–642.
- ÓSI, A. (2004). New azhdarchid pterosaur remains from the Late Cretaceous of Hungary. In European Association of Vertebrate Palentologists Annual Meeting, Brno.
- ÕSI, A. (2009). Feeding related characters in basal pterosaurs: implications for jaw mechanism, dental function and diet. *Journal of Paleontology* 29, 160A.
- ÕSI, A. (2011). Feeding-related characters in basal pterosaurs: implications for jaw mechanism, dental function and diet. *Lethaia* 44, 136–152.
- ÕSI, A., WEISHAMPEL, D. B. & JIANU, C. M. (2005). First evidence of azhdarchid pterosaurs from the Late Cretaceous of Hungary. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica* 50, 777–787.
- PADIAN, K. (1980). Studies of the structure, evolution, and flight of pterosaurs (Reptilia: Pterosauria). PhD Thesis: Yale University, New Haven.
- PADIAN, K. (1983). A functional analysis of flying and walking in pterosaurs. *Paleobiology* 9, 218–239.
- PADIAN, K. (1984). The origin of pterosaurs. In *Third Symposium on Mesozoic Terrestrial Ecosystems* (eds W. E. REIF and F. WESTPHAL), pp. 163–168. Attempto Verlag, Tubingen.
- PADIAN, K. (2008a). The Early Jurassic pterosaur Campylognathoides Strand, 1928. Special Papers in Palaeontology 80, 69–107.
- PADIAN, K. (2008b). The Early Jurassic pterosaur Dorygnathus bathensis. (Theodori, 1830). Special Papers in Palaeontology 80, 1–64.
- PALMER, C. (2011). Flight in slow motion: aerodynamics of the pterosaur wing. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 278, 1881–1885.
- PAUL, G. S. (1987). Pterodactyl habits real and radio controlled. Nature 328, 481.
- PINHEIRO, F. L., LIPARINI, A. & SCHULTZ, C. (2014). Was Tapejara wellnhoferi (Pterosauria: Pterodactyloidea) Really Frugivorous? *Journal of Paleontology*, Program and Abstracts 205.
- PLATT, S. G., ELSEY, R. M., LIU, H., RAINWATER, T. R., NIFONG, J. C., ROSENBLATT, A. E., HEITHAUS, M. R. & MAZZOTTI, F. J. (2013a). Frugivory and seed dispersal by crocodilians: an overlooked form of saurochory? *Journal of Zoology* 291, 87–99.
- PLATT, S. G., THORBJARNARSON, J. B., RAINWATER, T. R. & MARTIN, D. R. (2013b). Diet of the American crocodile (*Grocodylus acutus*) in marine environments of coastal Belize. *Journal of Herpetology* 47, 1–10.
- PORRO, L. B., METZGER, K. A., IRIARTE-DIAZ, J. & ROSS, C. F. (2013). In vivo bone strain and finite element modeling of the mandible of Alligator mississippiensis. Journal of Anatomy 223, 195–227.
- PRENTICE, K. C., RUTA, M. & BENTON, M. J. (2011). Evolution of morphological disparity in pterosaurs. *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology* 9, 337–353.
- PRONDVAI, E., STEIN, K., ŐSI, A. & SANDER, M. P. (2012). Life history of *Rhamphorhynchus* inferred from bone histology and the diversity of pterosaurian growth strategies. *PLoS One* 7, e31392.
- PURNELL, M. A. (1999). Conodonts: functional analysis of disarticulated skeletal structures. In *Functional Morphology of the Invertebrate Skeleton* (ed. E. SAVAZZI), pp. 129–146. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.
- PURNELL, M. A. & DARRAS, L. P. G. (2016). 3D tooth microwear texture analysis in fishes as a test of dietary hypotheses of durophagy. *Surface Topography: Metrology and Properties* 4, 014006.
- PURNELL, M. A., SEEHAUSEN, O. & GALIS, F. (2012). Quantitative three-dimensional microtextural analyses of tooth wear as a tool for dietary discrimination in fishes. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 9, 2225–2233.
- RAYFIELD, E. J. (2011). Strain in the ostrich mandible during simulated pecking and validation of specimen-specific finite element models. *Journal of Anatomy* 218, 47–58.
- RAYFIELD, E. J., NORMAN, D. B., HORNER, C. C., HORNER, J. R., SMITH, P. M., THOMANSON, J. J. & UPCHURCH, P. (2001). Cranial design and function in a large theropod dinosaur. *Nature* 409, 1033–1037.
- RAYNER, J. M. V. (1989). Mechanics and physiology of flight in fossil vertebrates. Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh **80**, 311–320.
- RENSBERGER, J. M. (1978). Scanning electron microscopy of wear and occlusal events in some small herbivores. In *Development, Function, and Evolution of Teeth* (eds P. M. BUTLER and K. A. JOYSEY), pp. 415–438. Academic Press, New York.
- RJABININ, A. N. (1948). Remarks on a flying reptile from the Jurassic of the Kara-tau. Akademii Nauk, Paleontological Institute, Trudy 15, 86–93 (in Russian).
- ROBINSON, B. W. & WILSON, D. S. (1998). Optimal foraging, specilization, and a solution to Liem's paradox. *The American Naturalist* 151, 223–235.
- RODRIGUES, T., JIANG, S., CHENG, X., WANG, X. & KELLNER, A. W. A. (2015). A new toothed pteranodontoid (Pterosauria, Pterodactyloidea) from the Jiufotang Formation (Lower Cretaceous, Aptian) of China and comments on *Liaoningopterus* gui Wang and Zhou, 2003. *Historical Biology* 27, 782–795.
- SCOTT, R. S., UNGAR, P. S., BERGSTROM, T. S., BROWN, C. A., CHILDS, B. E., TEAFORD, M. F. & WALKER, A. (2006). Dental microwear texture analysis: technical considerations. *Journal of Human Evolution* **51**, 339–349.
- SCOTT, R. S., UNGAR, P. S., BERGSTROM, T. S., BROWN, C. A., GRINE, F. E., TEAFORD, M. F. & WALKER, A. (2005). Dental microwear texture analysis shows within-species diet variability in fossil hominins. *Nature* 436, 693–695.

- SEELEY, H. G. (1901). Dragons of the Air: An Account of Extinct Flying Reptiles. Methuen & Co., London.
- SEILACHER, A. (1970). Arbeitskonzept zur Konstrktions-Morphologie. Lethaia 3, 393–396.
- SENTER, P. (2003). New information on cranial and dental features of the Triassic archosauriform reptile *Euparkeria capensis*. *Palaeontology* 46, 613–621.
- SOOKIAS, R. B. (2016). The relationships of the Euparkeriidae and the rise of Archosauria. *Royal Society Open Science* 3, 150674.
- SOOKIAS, R. B. & BUTLER, R. J. (2013). Euparkeriidae. In Anatomy, Phylogeny and Palaeobiology of Early Archosaurs and their Kin, Special Publications 379 (eds S. J. NESBITT, J. B. DESOJO and R. B. IRMMIS), pp. 35–48. Geological Society, London.
- STECHER, R. (2008). A new Triassic pterosaur from Switzerland (central Austroalpine, Grisons), *Raeticodactylus filisurensis* gen. et sp. nov. Swiss Journal of Geosciences 101, 185–201.
- STIELER, C. (1922). Neuer Rekonstruktionsversuch eines liassischen Flugsauriers. Naturwissenschaftliche Wochenschrift 20, 273–280.
- SZCZEPANSKI, J. A. & BENGTSON, D. A. (2014). Quantitative food habits of the bullnose ray, *Myliobatis freminvillii*, in Delaware Bay. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 97, 981–997.
- TEAFORD, M. F. (1988). A review of dental microwear and diet in modern mammals. Scanning Microscopy 2, 1149–1166.
- TENG, F., LÜ, J., WEI, X., HSIAO, Y. & PITTMAN, M. (2014). New material of *Zhenyuanopterus* (Pterosauria) from the Early Cretaceous Yixian Formation of Western Liaoning. Acta Geologica Sinica 88, 1–5.
- THOMASON, J. J. (1995). Functional Morphology in Vertebrate Paleontology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- TÜTKEN, T. & HONE, D. W. E. (2010). The ecology of pterosaurs based on carbon and oxygen isotope analysis. Acta Geoscientica Sinica 31, 65–67.
- TWEET, J. S., CHIN, K., BRAMAN, D. R. & MURPHY, N. L. (2008). Probable gut contents within a specimen of *Brachylophosaurus canadensis* (Dinosauria: Hadrosauridae) from the Upper Cretaceous Judith River Formation of Montana. *Palaios* 23, 624–635.
- UNGAR, P. S., BROWN, C. A., BERGSTROM, T. S. & WALKER, A. (2003). Quantification of dental microwear by tandem scanning confocal microscopy and scale-sensitive fractal analysis. *Scanning* 25, 185–193.
- UNWIN, D. M. (1996). The fossil record of middle Jurassic pterosaurs. In *The Continental Jurassic*, Museum of Northern Arizona Bulletin 60 (ed. M. MORALES), pp. 291–304. The Museum, Flagstaff.
- UNWIN, D. M. (2001). An overview of the pterosaur assemblage from the Cambridge Greensand (Cretaceous) of Eastern England. Mitteilungen Museum für Naturkunde Berlin, Geowissenschaftliche 5, 239–263.
- UNWIN, D. M. (2003). On the phylogeny and evolutionary history of pterosaurs. In Evolution and Palaeobiology of Pterosaurs, Special Publications 217 (eds E. BUFFETAUT and J.-M. MAZIN), pp. 139–190. Geological Society, London.
- UNWIN, D. M. (2006). The Pterosaurs from Deep Time. Pi Press, New York.
- UNWIN, D. M. (2007). When pterosaurs came down from the trees: terrestrial locomotor styles and their implications for pterosaur ecology and evolutionary history. In *The Third International Meeting on Pterosaurs*, Bavaria State Collection for Palaeontology, Munich.
- UNWIN, D. M. & HENDERSON, D. M. (2002). On the trail of the totally integrated pterosaur. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **17**, 58–59.
- UNWIN, D. M., LÜ, J. & BAKHURINA, N. N. (2000). On the systematic and stratigraphic significance of pterosaurs from the Lower Cretaceous Yixian Formation (Jehol Group) of Liaoning, China. *Mitteilungen aus dem Museum für Naturkunde in Berlin*, *Geowissenschaftliche Reihe* 3, 181–206.
- UNWIN, D. M. & MARTILL, D. M. (eds) (2007). Pterosaurs of the Crato Formation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- UNWIN, D. M., WANG, X. & MENG, X. (2008). How the moon goddess, chang-e, helped us to understand pterosaur evolutionary history. In Symposium of Vertebrate Palaeontology and Comparative Anatomy Annual Meeting, National Musuem of Ireland, Dublin.
- VELDMEIJER, A. J., SIGNORE, M. & BUCCI, E. (2007). Predator-prey interaction of Brazilian Cretaceous toothed pterosaurs: a case example. In *Predation in Organisms-A Distinct Phenomenon* (ed. A. M. T. ELEWA), pp. 295–308. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- VELDMEIJER, A. J., WITTON, M. P. & NIEUWLAND, I. (2012). Pterosaurs: Flying Contemporaries of the Dinosaurs. Sidestone Press, Lieden.
- VREMIR, M., WITTON, M. P., NAISH, D., DYKE, G., BRUSATTE, S. L., NORELL, M. & TOTOIANU, R. (2015). A medium-sized robust-necked azhdarchid pterosaur (Pterodactyloidea: Azhdarchidae) from the Maastrichtian of Pui (Hateg Basin, Transylvania, Romania). *American Museum Novitates* **3827**, 1–16.
- VULLO, R., MARUGÁN-LOBÓN, J., KELLNER, A. W. A., BUSCALIONI, A. D., GOMEZ, B., DE LA FUENTE, M. & MORATALLA, J. J. (2012). A new crested pterosaur from the Early Cretaceous of Spain: the first European tapejarid (Pterodactyloidea: Azhdarchoidea). *PLoS One* 7, e38900.
- WAINWRIGHT, P. C., ALFARO, M. E., BOLNICK, D. I. & HULSEY, C. D. (2005). Many-to-one mapping of form to function: a general principle in organismal design? *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 45, 256–262.

- WALKER, A., HOECK, H. N. & PEREZ, L. (1978). Microwear of mammalian teeth as an indicator of diet. *Science* 201, 908–910.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W., CHENG, X., JIANG, S., WANG, Q., SAYAO, J. M., RODRIGUES, T., COSTA, F. R., LI, N., MENG, X. I. & ZHOU, Z. (2015). Eggshell and histology provide insight on the life history of a pterosaur with two functional ovaries. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências* 87, 1599–1609.
- WANG, X., JIANG, S., MENG, X. & CHENG, X. (2010a). Recent progress in the study of pterosaurs from China. Bulletin of the Chinese Academy of Sciences 24, 86–88.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., JIANG, S., CHENG, X., MENG, X. & RODRIGUES, T. (2010b). New long-tailed pterosaurs (Wukongopteridae) from western Liaoning, China. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências 82, 1045–1062.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., JIANG, S., CHENG, X., WANG, Q., MA, Y., PAIDOULA, Y., RODRIGUES, T., CHEN, H., SAYÃO, J. M., NING, L., ZHANG, J., BANTIM, R. A. M., MENG, X., ZHANG, X., QIU, R. & ZHOU, Z. (2017). Egg accumulation with 3D embryos provides insight into the life history of a pterosaur. *Science* 358, 1197–1201.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., JIANG, S. & MENG, X. (2009). An unusual long-tailed pterosaur with elongated neck from western Liaoning of China. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências 81, 793–812.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., JIANG, S. & CHENG, X. (2012). New toothed flying reptile from Asia: close similarities between early Cretaceous pterosaur faunas from China and Brazil. *Naturwissenschaften* **99**, 249–257.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., ZHOU, Z. & CAMPOS, D. d. A. (2005). Pterosaur diversity and faunal turnover in Cretaceous terrestrial ecosystems in China. *Nature* 437, 875–879.
- WANG, X., KELLNER, A. W. A., ZHOU, Z. & CAMPOS, D. d. A. (2008). Discovery of a rare arborcal forest-dwelling flying reptile (Pterosauria, Pterodactyloidea) from China. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 1983–1987.
- WANG, X. & LÜ, J. (2001). Discovery of a pterodactylid pterosaur from the Yixian formation of western Liaoning, China. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 46, 1112–1117.
- WANG, X., RODRIGUES, T., JIANG, S., CHENG, X. & KELLNER, A. W. A. (2014a). An Early Cretaceous pterosaur with an unusual mandibular crest from China and a potential novel feeding strategy. *Scientific Reports* 4, 1–9.
- WANG, X., SHEN, C., GAO, C. & JIN, K. (2014b). New material of *Feilongus* (Reptilia: Pterosauria) from the Lower Cretaceous Jiufotang Formation of Western Liaoning. *Acta Geologica Sinica* 88, 13–17.
- WANG, X. & ZHOU, Z. (2006). Pterosaur assemblages of the Jehol Biota and their implication for the Early Cretaceous pterosaur radiation. *Geological Journal* 41, 405–418.
- WANG, X., ZHOU, Z., ZHANG, F. & XU, X. (2002). A nearly complete articulated rhamphorhynchoid pterosaur with exceptionally well-preserved wing membranes and "hairs" from Inner Mongolia, Northeast China. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 47, 226–230.
- WELLNHOFER, P. (1975). Die Rhamphorhynchoidea (Pterosauria) der Oberjura-Plattenkalke Süddeutschlands, Teil III: Palökologie und Stammesgeschichte. *Palaeontographica Abteilung* A 130, 1–30.
- WELLNHOFER, P. (1991). The Illustrated Encyclopaedia of Pterosaurs. Salamander Books, London.
- WELLNHOFER, P. & KELLNER, A. W. A. (1991). The skull of *Tapejara wellnhoferi* Kellner (Reptilia, Pterosauria) from the Lower Cretaceous Santana Formation of the Araripe Basin, Northeastern Brazil. *Mitteilungen der Bayerischen Staatssammlung für Paläontologie* und Historische Geologie **31**, 89–106.
- WILD, R. (1978). Die Flugsaurier (Reptilia, Pterosauria) aus der Oberen Trias von Cene bei Bergamo, Italien. Bolletino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana 17, 176–256.
- WILD, R. (1984). A new pterosaur (Reptilia, Pterosauria) from the Upper Triassic (Norian) of Friuli, Italy. Gortania- Atti Museo Friulano del Storia Naturale 5, 45–62.
- WILKINSON, D. M. & RUXTON, G. D. (2012). Understanding selection for long necks in different taxa. *Biological Reviews* 87, 616–630.
- WITMER, L. M. (1995). The extant phylogenetic bracket and the importance of reconstructing soft tissue in fossils. In *Functional Morphology in Vertebrate Paleontology* (ed. J. J. THOMASON), pp. 19–33. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- WITTON, M. P. (2008). A new approach to determining pterosaur body mass and its implications for pterosaur flight. *Zitteliana* B28, 143–158.
- WITTON, M. P. (2012). New insights into the skull of *Istiodactylus latidens* (Ornithocheiroidea, Pterodactyloidea). *PLoS One* 7, e33170.
- WITTON, M. P. (2013). Pterosaurs: Natural History, Evolution, Anatomy. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- WITTON, M. P. (2015a). Flight performance and lifestyle of Dimorphodon macronyx. In The 5th International Symposium on Pterosaurs, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- WITTON, M. P. (2015b). Were pterosaurs inept terrestrial locomotors? Peerf 3, e1018.
- WITTON, M. P. (2018). Pterosaurs in Mesozoic food webs: a review of fossil evidence. In *New Perspectives on Pterosaur Palaeobiology*, Special Publications 455 (eds D. W. E. HONE, M. P. WITTON and D. M. MARTILL), pp. 7–23. Geological Society, London.
- WITTON, M. P. & HABIB, M. B. (2010). On the size and flight diversity of giant pterosaurs, the use of birds as pterosaur analogues and comments on pterosaur flightlessness. *PLoS One* 5, e13982.
- WITTON, M. P. & NAISH, D. (2008). A reappraisal of azhdarchid pterosaur functional morphology and paleoecology. *PLoS One* 3, e2271.

- WITTON, M. P. & NAISH, D. (2015). Azhdarchid pterosaurs: water-trawling pelican mimics or "terrestrial stalkers"? Acta Palaeontologica Polonica 60, 651–660.
- WITTON, M. P., O'SULLIVAN, M. & MARTILL, D. M. (2015). The relationships of *Cuspicephalus scarfi* Martill and Etches, 2013 and *Normanognathus wellnhoferi* Buffetaut *et al.*, 1998 to other monofenestratan pterosaurs. *Contributions to Zoology* 84, 115-127.
- WRETMAN, L. & KEAR, B. P. (2013). Bite marks on an ichthyodectiform fish from Australia: possible evidence of trophic interaction in an Early Cretaccous marine ecosystem. Alcheringa: An Australasian Journal of Palaeontology 38, 170–176.
- XING, L.-D., HARRIS, J. D., GIERLIŃSKI, G. D., GINGRAS, M. K., DIVAY, J. D., TANG, Y.-G. & CURRIE, P. J. (2012). Early Cretaceous pterosaur tracks from a "buried" dinosaur tracksite in Shandong Province, China. *Palaeoworld* 21, 50–58.
- YOUNG, C. C. (1964). On a new pterosaurian from Sinkiang, China. Vertebrate Palasiatica 8, 221–225.
- ZHOU, C.-F., GAO, K.-Q., YI, H., XUE, J., LI, Q. & FOX, R. C. (2017). Earliest filter-feeding pterosaur from the Jurassic of China and ecological evolution of Pterodactyloidea. *Royal Society Open Science* 4, 160672.
- ZUSI, R. L. (1962). Structural Adaptations of the Head and Neck in the Black Skimmer, Rynchops nigra, Linnaeus. Nuttal Ornithological Club, Cambridge.

IX. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article. **Appendix S1.** Breakdowns of all pterosaur dietary interpretations, detailing dietary and evidential category assortments, for each of the Unwin, Kellner and Andres phylogenies. The Kellner and Andres pterosaur phylogenies (see online Figs S1 and S2, respectively) and dietary interpretations for each pterosaur principal group (see online Figs S3 and S4, respectively) are also included. Further information on phylogenies and the full list of 180 pterosaur species assorted into principal groups from the Unwin phylogeny is also provided.

(Received 1 December 2017; revised 3 May 2018; accepted 11 May 2018)